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Annual Report and Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
 

Company Summary
 

The Company                                    Sherborne I nvestors  (Guernsey) C  Limited (the "Company") i s  a  Guernsey domici led l imited
company and i ts  shares  are admi�ed to trading on the London Stock Exchange Special is t
Fund Segment ("S FS"). The Company was incorporated on 25 May 2017. The Company
commenced deal ings  on the SFS on 12 July 2017.

 
Investment O bjec*ve                   To real ise capital  growth from investment in a  target company iden-fied by the I nvestment

Manager, with the aim of generating a  s igni ficant capital  return for Shareholders .
 

Investment Policy                           To invest, through i ts  investment in S I GC, LP  (I ncorporated) (the "I nvestment Partnership"),
in a  company which is  publ icly quoted, which the Company cons iders  to be undervalued
as  a  result of opera-onal  deficiencies  and which i t bel ieves  can be rec-fied by the
I nvestment Manager's  ac-ve involvement, thereby increas ing the value of the
investment. The Company wi l l  only invest in one target company at a  time. 

 
Investment Manager                     Sherborne I nvestors  (Guernsey) GP, LLC (the "General  Partner") and the I nvestment

Partnership have appointed Sherborne I nvestors  Management (Guernsey) LLC (the
"I nvestment Manager") to provide investment management services  to the I nvestment
Partnership.

 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2022
 

Chairman's Statement
 
I  am pleased to present the Annual  Report and Audited Consol idated Financial  Statements  of the Company for the year from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022.
 
At 31 December 2022, the net asset value ("NAV") a�ributable to shareholders  of the Company was £529.3 mi l l ion (2021:
£576.6 mi l l ion) or 75.62 pence per share (2021: 82.38 pence per share) (see Note 8). As  at 31 March 2023 the es-mated
(unaudited) NAV, as  reported, was  73.50 pence per share.
 
The Company co-invests  in Navient Corpora-on ("Navient") with other investors  through Newbury I nvestors  LLC
("Newbury"), which is  managed by an affil iate of the I nvestment Manager, Sherborne I nvestors  Management LP  ("Sherborne
I nvestors"). Newbury currently owns 23% of the outstanding shares  of Navient. The Company is  pursuing i ts  investment
strategy through i ts  indirect shareholding in Navient. Newbury has  separately disclosed a 20.7% interest in the outstanding
shares  of the Company. See Note 5 of the Notes  to the Consol idated Financial  Statements .
 
For further informa-on on Navient, including their strategy and performance, please refer to their publ icly avai lable
financial  s tatements  and presentations  avai lable at www.sec.gov or Navient's  website at www.navient.com.
 
O n 14 Apri l  2022, Navient and Sherborne I nvestors  entered into an agreement that, among other things , provided for
Navient to nominate and recommend the elec-on of Mr. Edward Bramson, a  partner in Sherborne I nvestors , to the board of
directors  of Navient at Navient's  Annual  General  Mee-ng of shareholders  on 2 June 2022. Mr. Bramson was subsequently
elected to Navient's  board of directors  by shareholders  at the Annual  General  Meeting on 2 June 2022.
 
During 2022 Navient paid dividends to shareholders  total l ing $0.64 per share, of which the Group received i ts
propor-onate share. During the year the Company commenced the payment of dividends, ini-al ly with  0.5 pence per share
being paid on 16 September 2022 to shareholders  of record on 26 August 2022.  I  am pleased to announce that the
Company is  declaring a  further 0.5 pence per share dividend to be paid on 26 May 2023 to shareholders  of record on 5
May 2023, bringing the total  dividends paid in respect of 2022 to 1.0 pence per share.
 
O n 26 May 2022, the Company announced that a l l  resolu-ons proposed at the 2022 AGM were passed with the necessary
majori ty. Two shareholders  however voted against the Board's  re-elec-on and one further shareholder withheld i ts  vote
against my re-elec-on. The Board has  had produc-ve engagement with these shareholders  and, as  a  result, has  appointed
two new directors  who wi l l  improve the Board's  divers i ty and offer fresh perspec-ves. Further detai ls  regarding the 2022
AGM vote can be found in the Corporate Governance section.
 
Chris  Legge wi l l  not be standing for re-elec-on to the Board at the forthcoming AGM and I  would l ike to take this
opportunity to thank Chris  for the valuable contribu-on which he has  made to the Company and for having been such a
wonderful  col league.
 
O n 1 February 2023 the Company welcomed the appointment of Helen Sincla ir and Linda W i lding to the board as  non-
execu-ve directors .  We are very pleased that we were able to a�ract such highly qual ified individuals  and look forward to
working with them as  board col leagues.  Further detai ls  of Helen and Linda can be found in their biographies .
 
Detai ls  of Related Party Transactions  are contained in Note 9 of the Notes  to the Consol idated Financial  Statements .
 
We are grateful  for your continued support and wi l l  keep you informed of the status  of our investment as  i t develops.

http://www.sec.gov
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Board of Directors
 
Talmai Morgan (Chairman)
Appointed to the Board 25 May 2017
Mr Morgan has  served as  a  non-execu-ve director on the board of 14 publ icly l i s ted investment companies  (including 3
F TS E 250 companies) s ince 2005. He is  currently Chairman of Sherborne I nvestors  (Guernsey) C  Limited. From 1999 to 2004,
Mr Morgan worked as  a  financial  services  regulator (Director of F iduciary Services  and Enforcement at the Guernsey
Financial  Services  Commiss ion) and was par-cularly involved in the ac-vi-es  of the F inancial  Ac-on Task Force and the
O ffshore Group of Banking Supervisors . P rior to 1999, Mr Morgan held pos i-ons at Barings  and the Bank of Bermuda. He
qual i fied as  a  barrister in 1976 and holds  an MA in Economics  and Law from the Univers i ty of Cambridge.
 
Trevor Ash (Director)
Appointed to the Board 25 May 2017
Mr Ash has  been a non-execu-ve director of a  number of investment en--es s ince 1999, including funds  managed by
Rothschi ld, I ns ight, Cazenove, Merri l l  Lynch and Thames River Capital . He was formerly Chairman of JP EL P rivate Equity
Limited. P rior to 1999, Mr Ash spent 27 years  with the Rothschi ld Group in various  capaci-es, most recently as  Managing
Director of Rothschi ld Asset Management (C I ) Limited and as  a  non-execu-ve director of Rothschi ld Asset Management
Limited in London. Mr Ash is  a  fel low of the Chartered Insti tute for Securi ties  & Investment.
 
Christopher Legge (Audit Committee Chairman)
Appointed to the Board 25 May 2017
Mr Legge is  a  Chartered Accountant having started his  career at Pannel l  Kerr Forster (P K F), before moving to Ernst & Young
in 1983, where he became a partner in 1986 and managing partner Guernsey in 1998. S ince leaving Ernst & Young in 2003
he has  taken on a number of non-execu-ve directorships . He is  currently non-execu-ve director of Mul--Manager
I nvestment P rogrammes P C C Limited and NB Distressed Debt I nvestment Fund Limited. Mr Legge is  an FC A and holds  a  BA
(Hons) in Economics  from the Univers i ty of Manchester. Mr Legge intends to step down from the Board at the Company's
next annual  general  meeting.
 
Ian Brindle (Director)
Appointed to the Board 25 May 2017
Mr Brindle was  the Senior Partner of P rice Waterhouse from 1991 to 1998 and Chairman of P ricewaterhouseCoopers  un-l
2001. Mr Brindle was  a  member of the Accoun-ng Standards  Board between 1992 and 2001 and Deputy Chairman of the
Financial  Repor-ng Review Panel  between 2001 and 2008. Mr Brindle has  served as  a  non-execu-ve director on a number
of Boards  including Electra P rivate Equity P LC, F&C Asset Management P LC, Spirent Communica-ons P LC, Elemen-s P LC and
4 Imprint Group PLC.

Helen Sinclair (Director)
Appointed to the Board 1 February 2023
Ms Sinclair has a degree in Economics from Cambridge and an MBA from INSEAD business school. She began
her career in investment banking and then moved into private equity investment at 3i. Prior to her focus on
non-execu-ve director roles, Helen co-founded and ran Matrix Private Equity (which became Mobeus Equity
Partners LLP). Helen has a thirty-year track record as an investor, board member and board observer in a range
of sectors. Helen is Chairman of Octopus Future Genera-ons VCT plc, and serves on the Boards of WH Ireland
plc, BlackRock Smaller Companies Trust plc, Shires Income plc and North East Finance Ltd.
 
Linda Wilding (Director)
Appointed to the Board 1 February 2023
Ms Wilding has previously served as Chair and non-execu-ve director of various public and private equity
backed companies for over 20 years. ANer gaining a PhD in Biochemistry she joined EY and trained as a
Chartered Accountant. From the late 1980s she spent over a decade at Mercury Asset Management as a fund
manager in their private equity division. She is currently also on the Boards of BCPT plc, a real estate
investment trust and Wesleyan Assurance Society, a specialist financial services mutual.
 
 
Directors' Report (including the Strategic Report)
 
The Directors  present their annual  report on the affairs  of Sherborne I nvestors  (Guernsey) C  Limited and i ts  subs idiaries
(together, the "Group"), together with the audited consol idated financial  s tatements , for the year ended 31 December 2022.
 
Principal activities and investing policy
The Company is  a  Guernsey domici led company incorporated on 25 May 2017 with l imited l iabi l i ty. The Company's  shares
were admitted to trading on the SFS on 12 July 2017.
 
S I GC Midco Limited, a  whol ly-owned subs idiary of the Company, was  dissolved in early 2023, and therefore the Company is
now a l imited partner in the I nvestment Partnership, a  l imited partnership registered in Guernsey on 24 May 2017. The
Company aims to provide investors  with capital  growth through i ts  investment in the I nvestment Partnership, to which i t
has  committed £700,000,000.
 
The Company's  investment pol icy, which i t wi l l  effect indirectly through i ts  investment in the I nvestment Partnership, i s  to
invest in a  company which is  publ icly quoted, and which the I nvestment Manager cons iders  to be undervalued as  a  result
of opera-onal  deficiencies  and which i t bel ieves  can be rec-fied by the I nvestment Manager's  ac-ve involvement, thereby
increas ing the value of the investment (a  ''Turnaround''). Accordingly, the investment wi l l  not be pass ive. The Company's
investment may be made on-market or off-market. 
 
The Company may invest, through the I nvestment Partnership, in a  company opera-ng in any economic sector but wi l l  only
be invested in one company at a  -me. Thus, i t wi l l  not seek to reduce risk through divers ifica-on. The choice of target
company wi l l  be subject to a  vote in the affirma-ve of a  majori ty in interest of the l imited partners  of the I nvestment
Partnership, in effect giving the Board a veto on such decis ion s ince the Company owns, and is  currently expected to



continue to own, more than 50% of the interests  in the Investment Partnership.
 
The investment in a  target company is  intended to be in shares , but could a lso be in warrants , conver-bles , deriva-ves  and
any other equity, debt or other securi ties .
 
Depending on the s ize of the investment, a l l  or part of the Company's  assets  wi l l  be invested in the Selected Target Company
("STC"), through the I nvestment Partnership, less  the minimum capital  requirements . The investment objec-ve and
investment pol icy of the I nvestment Partnership are the same as  those of the Company. I n selec-ng the STC, the I nvestment
Manager wi l l  cons ider the relevant ES G aspects  of the STC and wi l l  seek to pos i-vely influence the relevant pol icies  and
performance of the STC through i ts  active involvement in seeking to effect a  turnaround.
 
The holding period for investments  is  neither fixed nor predictable, but the Company expects  that a  typical  holding period
would be greater than one year. The average holding period of the four completed UK Turnarounds in companies  with which
the I nvestment Manager's  key personnel  have been involved is  28 months; however, this  should not be taken as  being
indicative of the holding period to be adopted in effecting the Company's  investment pol icy.
 
The I nvestment Partnership may engage in hedging transac-ons to protect the market value of i ts  investment in any
company in which i t i s  invested and may also engage in stock lending.
 
The Company and the I nvestment Partnership do not currently intend to undertake borrowings  but are permi�ed to do so.
Any borrowings  undertaken by the Company and the I nvestment Partnership wi l l  not, in aggregate, be greater than 30% of
the Company's  Gross  Assets  as  measured at the time that such borrowings  are incurred.
 
In the event that the Board cons iders  i t appropriate to amend materia l ly the investment objective or pol icy of the Company,
Shareholder approval  to any such amendment wi l l  be sought. For further detai ls  on the current investment refer to the
Chairman's  Statement.
 
Risk Management
The Directors  are responsible for supervis ing the overal l  management of the Company, whi lst the day-to-day management
of the Company's  assets  has  been delegated to the I nvestment Manager. PorQol io exposure has  been l imited by the
guidel ines  which are detai led within the P rincipal  ac-vi-es  and investment pol icy sec-on of the annual  report above. I n
i ts  role as  a  third-party fund administra-on services  provider, Apex Fund and Corporate Services  (Guernsey) Limited
produced an annual  P ER E S SAE 18 and I SAE 3402 Type 2 Assurance Report on the internal  control  procedures  in place for
the year ended 30 September 2022 and this  i s  subject to review by the Audit Committee and the Board.
 
The principal  risks  facing the Group and Company relate to the Company's  investment ac-vi-es  and these risks  include the
fol lowing:
·    performance risk;
·    market risk;
·    relationship risk; and
·    operational  risk.
An explanation of these principal  risks  and how they are managed is  set out below.
 
The Board can confirm that the principal  risks  of the Company, including those which would threaten i ts  bus iness  model ,
future performance, solvency or l iquidity, have been robustly assessed for the year ended 31 December 2022.
 
·     Performance risk - The Board is  responsible for approving the I nvestment Manager's  recommended investment in a  STC

and monitoring the performance of the I nvestment Manager. An inappropriate strategy or poor execu-on of strategy
may lead to underperformance. To manage that risk the I nvestment Manager wi l l  typical ly have several  poten-al
target companies  under review at any one -me in various  stages  of analys is . The I nvestment Manager's
recommenda-on of a  STC includes  an assessment of the capital  apprecia-on poten-al  of the proposed investment,
assuming certain opera-ng improvements  and capital  real ignment are successful ly implemented. The Company
intends that i ts  holding in the STC wi l l  be less  than 30% of the outstanding shares  i f the STC is  a  UK  company, so that i t
i s  not required to make a bid for the en-re company. Accordingly, the Company wi l l  not control  the STC. The I nvestment
Manager's  involvement in the Turnaround of the STC requires  the support of other independent shareholders . The
Board receives  regular updates  of the I nvestment Partnership's ownership interest in the STC and other informa-on
that impacts  i ts  Turnaround strategy.
 

·     Market risk - Market risk arises  from uncertainty about the future opera-ng performance and market response to the
Company's  investment in the STC. The Company's  investment approach is  to invest in only one company at a  -me. Such
investment concentra-on may subject the Company to greater market fluctua-on and loss  than might result from a
divers ified investment porQol io. The market's  valua-on of the STC is  a lso subject to fluctua-ons in overal l  market
prices  as  wel l  as  fluctua-ons in the industry sectors  in which the STC operates . The I nvestment Manager does  not
typical ly hedge against overal l  market or sector fluctua-ons. The Company also may use a  l imited amount of short-
term leverage to acquire a  por-on of i ts  ownership interest in the STC which wi l l  ampl i fy the results  of the STC. I n
addi-on to interest and dividend income received from the STC, the source of debt repayment could come from the
proceeds real ised from the sale of a  por-on of the STC. The Group's  market risk i s  managed by the I nvestment Manager
in accordance with pol icies  and procedures  in place as  disclosed in the Group's  prospectus.

 
·     Rela*onship risk - Neither the Company nor the I nvestment Partnership has  a  phys ical  presence (employees  and/or

premises). The Company and I nvestment Partnership are heavi ly dependent on the I nvestment Manager for the
selec-on of an appropriate STC and for the day-to-day management and opera-on of the STC's  bus iness  and the
execution of i ts  Turnaround.

 
·     Operational risk - O pera-onal  risk i s  reviewed by the Board at each Board mee-ng. The Board also monitors  the Group's

investment performance and ac-vi-es  s ince the last Board mee-ng to ensure that the I nvestment Manager adheres  to
the agreed investment pol icy and approved investment guidel ines. Further, at each Board mee-ng, the Board receives
reports  from the Company Secretary and Administrator in respect of compl iance ma�ers  and du-es performed by i t on
behalf of the Company.

 
O ther risks  faced by the Company are described in detai l  within the Company's  O ffering Document and can be obtained at
www.sherborneinvestorsguernseyc.com.
 
O ther risks  faced by the STC are described in detai l  within the STC's  publ icly avai lable financial  s tatements  and can be
obtained at www.sec.gov or the STC's  website at www.navient.com.
 
The Board have cons idered the Company's  solvency and l iquidity risk and disclosure of this  i s  made in Note 10 of the

http://www.sherborneinvestorsguernseyc.com
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The Board have cons idered the Company's  solvency and l iquidity risk and disclosure of this  i s  made in Note 10 of the
Consol idated Financial  Statements  and in the Viabi l i ty Statement below.
 
Viability Statement
I n accordance with provis ion 31 P rinciple O  of the UK  Corporate Governance Code 2018, the Directors  have assessed the
viabi l i ty of the Group and Company as  at 31 December 2022. The Directors  have determined that the three year period to 31
December 2025 is  the maximum period over which to provide i ts  viabi l i ty statement in order to keep in l ine with i ts
investment strategy. The holding period for the investment in the STC is  neither fixed nor predictable, but the Company
expects  that a  holding period of 3-4 years  would be sufficient to execute the Investment Manager's  turnaround strategy.
 
The Directors  have identi fied the fol lowing factors  as  potentia l  contributors  to ongoing viabi l i ty:

·    The principal  risks  documented in the Directors ' Report as  set out above;
·    The l iquidity of the Group's  portfol io; and
·    The ongoing relevance of the Group's  investment objective in the current environment.

 
At 31 March 2023 the Company (excluding NC I ) had an es-mated (unaudited) NAV of £514.6 mi l l ion. The Company, via  the
Investment Partnership and other funds  (the "Funds"), has  sufficient l iquid assets  to meet expected costs . Should addi-onal
l iquidity be required at the Funds level , shares  could be sold and the investment manager of the Funds has  the ful l  intent
and abi l i ty to provide the Group (via  the Investment Partnership) with funds  as  and i f required.
 
Based on the foregoing, the Directors  have a reasonable expecta-on that the Group and Company wi l l  be able to con-nue in
operation and meet i ts  obl igations  as  and when they fa l l  due over the three year period to 31 December 2025.
 
Subsequent events
Detai ls  of events  that have occurred aNer the date of the Consol idated Statement of F inancial  Pos i-on are provided in Note
12 to the Consol idated Financial  Statements .
 
Dividend policy
The Company's  dividend pol icy, subject to the discre-on of the Directors  who reserve the right to retain amounts  for
minimum capital  requirements , i s  to pay dividends to Shareholders  fol lowing receipt of any distribu-ons from the
Investment Partnership, subject a lways  to compl iance with the solvency test prescribed by the Companies  (Guernsey) Law,
2008, as  amended (the "Companies  Law").
 
This  wi l l  be dependent on the frequency with which the STC pays  dividends to i ts  shareholders  (of which the I nvestment
Partnership is  an indirect holder) as  wel l  as  the extent such dividends are first required to be used to repay outstanding
indebtedness  and meet the minimum working capital  requirements .
 
Dividend
During the year the Company declared and paid dividends to Shareholders  as  fol lows:
 
Period end Dividend per

share (£)
Announcement
date

Ex div date Record date Paid date

      
Ad hoc 0.005 18.08.2022 25.08.2022 26.08.2022 16.09.2022
 
The Company has  declared a dividend of 0.5 pence per share, payable on 26 May 2023 to shareholders  on the register at 5
May 2023.
 
Business review
A review of the Company's  bus iness  during the year and an indica-on of l ikely future developments  are contained in the
Chairman's  Statement.
 
Capital
Detai ls  of the Company's  capital  are provided in Note 7 to the Consol idated Financial  Statements . Al l  shares  carry equal
voting rights .
 
Substantial interests
As at 31 December 2022, the Company is  aware of the fol lowing materia l  shareholdings:
 

Shareholder
Number of Ordinary
Shares

% of issued
share capital

Sherborne Investors  Management LP* 144,681,485 20.7
Invesco Limited 139,467,736 19.9
Columbia Threadneedle 129,298,511 18.5
Janus Henderson Group plc 73,267,400 10.5
Fidel i ty International  Limited 70,000,000 10.0

 
*Shares  are owned by Newbury I nvestors  LLC, an indirect subs idiary of S I GC LLC (formerly known as  W histle I nvestors  I I I
LLC). Refer to Note 5 in the consol idated financial  s tatements  for additional  detai l .
 
The Directors  currently hold no shares  in the Company (unchanged from prior year).
 
Independent Auditor
A resolu-on to re-appoint the Auditors  to the Company wi l l  be proposed at the Annual  General  Mee-ng of the Company on
23 May 2023. Deloitte LLP have indicated their wi l l ingness  to continue as  Auditors .
 
 
Directors' Remuneration Report
 
Remuneration Policy & Components
The Board endeavours  to ensure the Remunera-on Pol icy reflects  and supports  the Company's  strategic a ims and
objec-ves  throughout the period under review. I t has  been agreed that, due to the smal l  s ize and structure of the Company,
a separate Remunera-on Commi�ee would be inefficient; therefore, the Board is  responsible for discuss ions  regarding
remuneration. No external  remuneration consultants  were appointed during the period under review.
 
The remunera-on for the Directors  has  not changed s ince incorpora-on and, as  such, there is  no annual  percentage
change.



change.
 
As per the Company's  Ar-cles  of Incorporation ("Articles"), a l l  D irectors  are en-tled to such remunera-on as  is  s tated in
the Company's  P rospectus  or as  the Company may by ordinary resolu-on determine; the aggregate overal l  l imit i s
currently set at £250,000. Subject to this  l imit, i t i s  the Company's  pol icy to determine the level  of D irectors ' fees , having
regard for the level  of fees  payable to non-execu-ve Directors  in the industry general ly, the role that individual  D irectors
ful fi l  in respect of responsibi l i ties  related to the Board and Audit Committee and the time dedicated by each Director to the
Company's  affa irs . Base fees  are set out below.
 

Base Fees and Fees Received 2022 Actual £ Base fee £
Chairman (Talmai  Morgan) 50,000 50,000
Audit Committee Chairman (Christopher Legge) 40,000 40,000
Non-Executive Director (Trevor Ash) 35,000 35,000
Non-Executive Director (Ian Brindle)   35,000   35,000
Total 160,000 160,000

 
Two new directors were appointed on 1 February 2023. Remunera-on for both Linda Wilding and Helen
Sinclair is £35,000 per annum. Linda Wilding will be appointed as Audit Commi�ee Chair when Chris Legge
resigns after the Annual General Meeting at which point her remuneration will increase to £40,000.
 
As outl ined in the Ar-cles , the Directors  may also be paid for a l l  reasonable travel l ing, hotel  and other out-of-pocket
expenses  properly incurred in the a�endance of Board or Commi�ee mee-ngs, General  mee-ngs, or mee-ngs  with
shareholders  of the Company or otherwise in the discharge of their du-es; and al l  reasonable expenses  properly incurred
by them seeking independent profess ional  advice on any ma�er that concerns  them in the furtherance of their du-es as
Directors  of the Company, such expenses  having been immateria l  during 2022.
 
No Director has  any en-tlement to pens ions, paid bonuses  or performance fees, been granted share op-ons or has  been
invited to par-cipate in long-term incen-ve plans. No loans  have been extended to a  Director by the Company and neither
have any loans  to a  Director been guaranteed by the Company.
 
None of the Directors  have a service contract with the Company.  Each of the Directors  has  entered into a  le�er of
appointment with the Company, were subject to elec-on at the first Annual  General  Mee-ng ("AGM"), or as  determined in
l ine with the Company's  Ar-cles , and re-elec-on at subsequent AGMs in accordance with the Company's  Ar-cles  and al l
due regula-ons and provis ions.  The Directors  do not have any interests  in contractual  arrangements  with the Company or
i ts  investment during the year under review, or subsequently. Each appointment can be terminated in accordance with the
Company's  Ar-cles  and without compensa-on. No no-ce period is  s tated in the Ar-cles  and is  terminable at wi l l  of both
parties .
 
D irectors ' and O fficers ' l iabi l i ty insurance cover is  maintained by the Company but is  not cons idered a benefit in kind nor
does  i t cons-tute part of the Directors ' Remunera-on. The Company's  Ar-cles  indemnify each Director, Secretary, agent
and officer of the Company, former or present, out of assets  of the Company in rela-on to charges, losses , l iabi l i-es ,
damages and expenses  incurred during the course of their du-es, in so far as  the law al lows and provided that such
indemnity is  not avai lable in ci rcumstances  of fraud, wi l ful  misconduct or negl igence.
 
 
Corporate Governance Report
 
As an unregulated, Guernsey incorporated company quoted on the S FS, the Company is  not required to comply with the UK
Corporate Governance Code 2018 or the GFS C Finance Sector Code of Corporate Governance. The Directors , however, place
great importance on ensuring that high standards  of corporate governance are maintained. Accordingly, the Directors  wi l l
take appropriate measures  to ensure that the Company operates  with due cons idera-on to any codes  of corporate
governance that the Board deems appropriate and may choose to operate in accordance with the UK  Corporate
Governance Code 2018 and/or the GFS C Finance Sector Code of Corporate Governance, in each case having regard to the
Company's  s ize and nature of bus iness . The Board perceives  that good corporate governance prac-ce is  necessary for
del ivering sustainable value, enhancing bus iness  integri ty and maintaining shareholder confidence in the Company. To
further these aims, the Board has  decided to voluntari ly comply with the UK  Corporate Governance Code dated July 2018
(the "Code"), which sets  out guidance in the form of principles  and provis ions  for companies  to fol low good corporate
governance practice. Further information on the Code can be obtained from www.frc.org.uk.
 
Except as  disclosed below and within the report, the Board is  of the view that the Company has  compl ied with the
principles  and provis ions  of the Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2022, with the fol lowing exceptions:

-      The Company has  no Chief Execu-ve, as  envisaged by principle G and provis ion 9 of the Code. See the Divis ion of
Responsibi l i ties ;

-      The Company has  no internal  audit func-on, as  envisaged by principle M and provis ion 25 of the UK  Code. See the
Audit, Risk and Internal  control  section;

-      The Company does  not have a remunera-on commi�ee, as  required by principle Q  and provis ion 32 of the UK
Code. See the Remuneration section below; and

-      The Company does  not have a Nomina-on Commi�ee, as  required by principle J and provis ion 17 of the Code. See
Board Appointments  Process  below.

 
Key issues  affec-ng the Company's  corporate governance responsibi l i-es , how they are addressed by the Board and
appl ication of the Code are presented below.
 
Board Leadership and Company Purpose
 
The Board is  composed en-rely of non-execu-ve Directors , who meet as  required without the presence of the I nvestment
Manager and service providers  to scru-nise the achievement of agreed goals  and objec-ves  and monitor performance.
Through the Audit Commi�ee, they are able to ascertain the integri ty of financial  informa-on and confirm that a l l  financial
controls  and risk management systems are robust. I n addi-on, a  non-execu-ve Director may provide a wri�en statement
outl ining any concerns  to the Chairman upon res igna-on. See the statements  on Board and Commi�ee responsibi l i-es  for
further information.
 
Information and Support
 
Information Provided to the Board
Reports  and papers  of corporate governance ma�ers , containing relevant, concise and clear informa-on, are provided to

http://www.frc.org.uk


Reports  and papers  of corporate governance ma�ers , containing relevant, concise and clear informa-on, are provided to
the Board and Commi�ees in a  -mely manner to enable review and cons idera-on prior to both scheduled and ad-hoc
specific mee-ngs. I nvestment updates  are provided verbal ly at scheduled and ad hoc mee-ngs. This  ensures  that Directors
are capable of contribu-ng to, and val ida-ng, the development of Company strategy and management. The regular reports
also provide informa-on that enables  scru-ny of the Company's  I nvestment Manager and other service providers '
performance. W hen required, the Board has  sought further clarifica-on of ma�ers  with the I nvestment Manager and other
service providers , both in terms of further reports  and via  in-depth discuss ions, in order to make a more informed decis ion
for the Company.  Should Directors  ra ise concerns  in rela-on to the opera-on of the Board or the management of the
Company, these concerns  are recorded in the Board minutes.
 
Information on Shareholders
The Directors  place a  great deal  of importance on communica-on with shareholders . The I nvestment Manager and Numis
Securi-es  Limited (the "Broker") a im to meet with large shareholders  at least annual ly. The Board also receives  reports
from the Broker on shareholder issues. The Annual  Report and Audited Consol idated Financial  Statements  are widely
distributed to other par-es  who have an interest in the Company's  performance and are avai lable on the Company's
website. The Chairman also meets  with major shareholders  independently of the Investment Manager from time to time.
 
Al l  D irectors  are avai lable for discuss ions  with the shareholders , in par-cular the Chairman and the Audit Commi�ee
Chairman, at the AGM and as  and when required.
 
Division of Responsibilities
 
The Chairman
Appointed to the pos i-on of Chairman of the Board on 25 May 2017, Mr Morgan is  responsible for leading the Board in a l l
areas , including determina-on of strategy, organis ing the Board's  bus iness  and ensuring the effec-veness  of the Board and
individual  D irectors . He also endeavours  to produce an open culture of debate within the Board. Mr Morgan is  a  non-
executive Independent Director.
 
The Chairman of the Board must be independent for the purposes  of Chapter 15 of the Lis-ng Rules . Mr Morgan is
cons idered independent because he:

-      has  no current or historical  employment with the Investment Manager;
-      has  not provided any profess ional  advisory services  to the Investment Manager; and
-      has  no current directorships  in any other investment funds  managed by the Investment Manager.

 
There are no execu-ve Directors  appointed to the Board, no employees  and therefore there is  no requirement for a  Chief
Execu-ve. The non-execu-ve Directors  are a l l  independent and their responsibi l i-es  are clearly defined within the
Schedule of Matters  reserved to the Board. Al l  day to day functions  are outsourced to external  service providers .
 
The Board bel ieves  that i ts  balance of ski l l s , experience and knowledge, provides  for a  sound base from which the interest
of investors  wi l l  be served to a  high standard. Due to the s ize and structure of the Company, the appointment of a  senior
independent director is  not deemed appropriate.
 
Board and Committee Meeting Attendance
The Board met four -mes and the Audit Commi�ee met three -mes during the year. I ndividual  a�endance at Board and
Audit Committee meetings  is  set out below.
 

Board Audit Committee
Talmai  Morgan 4 N/A
Trevor Ash 3 2
Christopher Legge 4 3
Ian Brindle 4 3
Total Meetings for Year 4 3
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Helen Sincla ir and Linda W i lding were appointed subsequent to the year end on 1 February 2023, and therefore did not
attend any meetings  during the year.
 
The Board ensures  that the Company's  contracts  of engagement with the I nvestment Manager, Administrator and other
service providers  are opera-ng sa-sfactori ly so as  to ensure the safe and accurate management and administra-on of the
Company's  affairs  and bus iness  and that they are compe--ve and reasonable for Shareholders . Terms of Reference that
contain a  formal  schedule of ma�ers  reserved for the Board of Directors  and i ts  duly authorised Commi�ee for decis ion
has  been approved and can be reviewed at the Company's  registered office.
 
Management of the I nvestment Partnership is  the responsibi l i ty of the General  Partner, which has  delegated investment
decis ions  and day-to-day management of the I nvestment Partnership to the I nvestment Manager under the terms of an
I nvestment Management Agreement. Through i ts  majori ty interest in the I nvestment Partnership, the Company and therefore
the Board, has  the abi l i ty to approve proposed investments  and to remove the General  Partner. The performance of the
Investment Manager is  subject to regular review by the Board.
 
O ther ma�ers  for the Board include review of the Company's  overal l  s trategy and bus iness  plans; approval  of the
Company's  hal f-yearly and annual  financial  s tatements; review and approval  of any al tera-on to the Group's  accoun-ng
pol icies  or prac-ces  and valua-on of investments; approval  of any al tera-on to the Company's  capital  s tructure; approval
of dividend pol icy; appointments  to the Board and cons-tu-on of Board Commi�ees; and performance review of key
service providers .
 
Directors' Indemnity
The Company holds  appropriate Directors ' and O fficers ' Liabi l i ty I nsurance cover in respect of any legal  ac-on taken
against the Board.
 
Conflicts of interest
Directors  are required to disclose al l  actual  and poten-al  conflicts  of interest as  they arise for approval  by the Board, who
may impose restric-ons or refuse to authorise conflicts . The process  of cons idera-on and, i f appropriate, approval  wi l l  be
conducted only by those Directors  with no materia l  interest in the ma�er being cons idered. The Board maintains  a



conducted only by those Directors  with no materia l  interest in the ma�er being cons idered. The Board maintains  a
Conflicts  of I nterest pol icy which is  reviewed periodical ly and a Conflicts  of I nterest Register which is  reviewed by the
Board at each quarterly Board meeting.
 
 
Commitment
 
Chairman's Commitment
P rior to the Chairman's  appointment, discuss ions  were undertaken to ensure the Chairman was sufficiently aware of the
-me needed for his  role and agreed to upon s ignature of his  appointment le�er. O ther s ignificant commitments  of the
Chairman were disclosed prior to appointment to the Board, and any changes  declared as  and when they arise. These
commitments , and their subsequent impact, can be identi fied in his  biography.
 
Non-executive Directors' Commitments
The terms and condi-ons of appointment for non-execu-ve Directors  are outl ined in their le�ers  of appointment and are
avai lable for inspec-on by any person at the Company's  registered office during normal  bus iness  hours  and at the AGM for
fiNeen minutes  prior to and during the mee-ng. As  with the Chairman, s ignificant appointments  are declared prior to
appointment, any changes  reported as  and when appropriate.
 
Development
The Board bel ieves  that the Company's  Directors  should develop their ski l l s  and knowledge through par-cipa-on at
relevant courses. The Chairman is  responsible for reviewing and discuss ing the training and development of each Director
according to iden-fied needs. Upon appointment, a l l  D irectors  par-cipate in discuss ions  with the Chairman and other
Directors  to understand the responsibi l i ties  of the Directors , in addition to the Company's  bus iness  and procedures.
 
The Company also provides  regular opportuni-es  for the Directors  to obtain a  thorough understanding of the Company's
bus iness  by regularly mee-ng members  of the senior management team from the I nvestment Manager and other service
providers , both in person and by phone.
 
Company Secretary
Under the direc-on of the Chairman, the Company Secretary faci l i tates  the flow of informa-on between the Board,
Commi�ees, I nvestment Manager and other service providers ' through the development of comprehensive mee-ng packs ,
agendas  and other media. 
 
Ful l  access  to the advice and services  of the Company Secretary is  avai lable to the Board; in turn, the Company Secretary is
responsible for advis ing on al l  governance matters  through the Chairman. The Articles  and schedule of matters  reserved for
the Board indicate the appointment and res igna-on of the Company Secretary is  an i tem reserved for the ful l  Board. A
review of the performance of the Company Secretary is  undertaken by the Board on a regular bas is .
 
Composition, succession and evaluation
 
Board Appointments Process
 
Appointment Process
There is  currently no Nomina-on Commi�ee for the Company as  i t i s  deemed that the s ize, composi-on and structure of the
Company would mean the process  would be inefficient and counter-produc-ve. W hen new Directors  are appointed to the
Company, an in-depth recruitment process  takes  place. For the appointments  of Linda W i lding and Helen Sincla ir in
February 2023, Cornforth Consulting were engaged to l ia ise with the Company in the process  of the appointments .
 
The Board has  chosen not to adopt a  defini-ve pol icy with quan-ta-ve targets  for board divers i ty. The Board bel ieves  that
the current mix of ski l l s , experience, knowledge and age of the Directors  i s  appropriate to the requirements  of the Company.
I n accordance with the Code, any Director who has  served on the Board for longer than nine years  wi l l  be subject to
rigorous  review to ensure the need for progress ive refreshing of the Board is  compl ied with.
 
Each Director is  required to be elected by shareholders  at the first AGM fol lowing their ini-al  appointment to the Board.
The Board recommends the on-going annual  re-elec-on of each Director and suppor-ng biographies , including length of
service, are disclosed in their biographies .
 
The Board cons ists  of s ix non-executive members , with Chris  Legge intending to step down at the next AGM.
 
For the purposes  of assess ing compl iance with the Code, the Board cons iders  the Directors  are independent of the
I nvestment Manager and free from any bus iness  or other rela-onship that could materia l ly interfere with the exercise of
their independent judgment. 
 
Evaluation
 
Board and Director Evaluation
Using a pre-determined template based on the Code's  provis ions  as  a  bas is  for review, the Board undertakes  an internal
evalua-on of i ts  performance and that of the Audit Commi�ee. This  was  last completed in March 2022 with a  pos i-ve
outcome. Additional ly, an evaluation focus ing on individual  commitment, performance and contribution of each Director is
conducted. The Chairman wi l l  meet with each Director to ful ly understand their views of the Company's  strengths  and to
iden-fy poten-al  weaknesses. I f appropriate, new members  would be proposed to resolve the perceived issues, or a
res igna-on sought. Due to the s ize and structure of the Board the evalua-on of the Chairman of the Board and Audit
Committee is  dealt with within the Board and Audit evaluations.
 
Given the Company's  s ize and the structure of the Board, no external  faci l i tator or independent third party is  used in the
performance evaluation.
 
Re-election and Board Tenure
The Board has  cons idered the need for a  pol icy regarding tenure of office; however, the Board bel ieves  that any decis ions
regarding tenure should cons ider the Company's  investment objec-ve and the average length of seeking to achieve that, the
need for con-nuity and maintenance of knowledge and experience and to balance this  against the need to periodical ly
refresh Board composition and have a balance of ski l l s , experience, age and length of service.
 
Statement on AGM 2022 Votes Against
 
O n 26 May 2022, the Board of the Company announced that a l l  resolu-ons proposed at the 2022 AGM were passed with
the necessary majori ty. I n accordance with the requirement of provis ion 4 of the UK  Corporate Governance Code 2018, the



the necessary majori ty. I n accordance with the requirement of provis ion 4 of the UK  Corporate Governance Code 2018, the
Company is  providing the fol lowing further update fol lowing the s ignificant minori ty votes  against resolu-ons 3, 4, 5, and
6 for the re-elec-ons of Mr T Morgan (22.05%), Mr T Ash (19.10%), Mr C  Legge (19.10%), and Mr I  Brindle (19.10%),
respectively, at the AGM.
 
As  previous ly noted, the Board has  identi fied that the votes  against these resolutions  relate principal ly to two shareholders
and one further shareholder withheld i ts  vote on resolu-on 3. The Board and the I nvestment Manager engaged with these
shareholders , both prior to and after the 2022 AGM, to understand their views. In response, and as  disclosed on 16 January
2023, the Board has  appointed two new non-execu-ve directors , Helen Sincla ir and Linda W i lding, effec-ve from 1
February 2023, to increase divers i ty and offer fresh perspec-ves. The Company remains  commi�ed to consulta-on with i ts
shareholders  and continues  i ts  pol icy of maintaining an open dia logue.
 
The Board remains  sa-sfied that the individual  contribu-ons of each Director are, and wi l l  con-nue to be, important to the
Company's  long term sustainable success . Accordingly, at the AGM of the Company to be held on 23 May 2023, Helen
Sincla ir and Linda W i lding wi l l  be proposed for elec-on, and Talmai  Morgan, I an Brindle and Trevor Ash wi l l  be proposed
for re-election. Chris  Legge wi l l  reti re from the Board at the AGM.
 
Audit, Risk and Internal Control
 
The Board has  establ ished an Audit Commi�ee composed of Chris  Legge, Trevor Ash, I an Brindle, Helen Sincla ir and Linda
W ilding, each of whom are independent. Mr Legge is  a  Chartered Accountant and is  a  previous  partner of Ernst & Young,
further informa-on is  provided in his  biography. Mr Legge wi l l  s tand down as  Audit Commi�ee Chairman and from the
Audit Commi�ee fol lowing the Company's  AGM on 23 May 2023, upon which Mrs  W i lding wi l l  take over as  Chairman of the
Audit Commi�ee. The Chairman of the Board, i s  not a  member of the Audit Commi�ee, in accordance with P rovis ion 24 of
the Code which states  that the Chair of the Board shal l  not be a  member of the Audit Commi�ee.   The Commi�ee, i ts
membership and i ts  terms of reference, which can be found on the Company's  website, are kept under regular review by the
Board.
 
The Audit Commi�ee meets  at least twice a  year and is  responsible for ensuring that the financial  performance of the
Company is  properly reported on and monitored, including reviews of the hal f-yearly and annual  financial  s tatements ,
results  announcements , internal  control  systems and procedures  and accounting pol icies .
 
The Audit Commi�ee is  intended to ass ist the Board in discharging i ts  responsibi l i-es  for the integri ty of the Company's
financial  s tatements , as  wel l  as  a id the assessment of the Company's  internal  control  effec-veness  and objec-vity of
external  auditors . Further informa-on on the Commi�ee's  responsibi l i-es  and the work of the Commi�ee is  given in the
Report of the Audit Committee. 
 
The Board has  reviewed the need for an internal  audit func-on and has  decided that the systems and procedures  employed
by the Administrator and I nvestment Manager, including their own internal  controls  and procedures, provide sufficient
assurance that a  sound system of risk management and internal  control , which safeguards  shareholders ' investment and
the Group and Company's  assets , i s  maintained. An internal  audit func-on specific to the Group is  therefore cons idered
unnecessary.
 
The Audit Commi�ee cons iders  the scope and effec-veness  of the Company's  external  audit. The Company's  Auditor,
Deloi�e LLP, may also provide addi-onal  non-audit services  to the Company, which in the Audit Commi�ee's  opinion, wi l l
not compromise the independence of Deloi�e LLP 's  audit team. Further informa-on is  provided in the Report of the Audit
Committee.
 
The Directors ' Responsibi l i ty Statement confirms that the financial  s tatements , prepared in accordance with the appl icable
set of accoun-ng standards, give a  true and fa ir view of the assets , l iabi l i-es , financial  pos i-on and profit or loss  of the
Group as  a  whole, whi lst the Chairman's  Statement includes  a  fa i r view of the development and performance of the
business  and the pos ition of the Group.
 
Financial and Business Reporting
An explana-on of the Directors ' roles  and responsibi l i-es  in preparing the Annual  Report and Audited Consol idated
Financial  Statements  for the year ended 31 December 2022 is  provided in the Directors ' Report and Statement of Directors '
Responsibi l i ties .
 
Further informa-on enabl ing shareholders  to assess  the Company's  performance, bus iness  model  and strategy can be
sourced in the Chairman's  Statement and the Directors ' Report.
 
Going concern
The Consol idated Financial  Statements  have been prepared on the going concern bas is . The net current asset pos i-on at
year end is  £4.8 mi l l ion. The es-mated (unaudited) net current asset pos i-on as  at 31 March 2023 is  £3.2m.  At 31 March
2023 the Company had an es-mated (unaudited) NAV of £514.6 mi l l ion. The Company, via  the Funds, has  sufficient l iquid
assets  to meet expected costs . The I nvestment Manager, affil iates  of which are a lso the investment manager of the Funds
has  the ful l  intent and abi l i ty to provide the I nvestment Partnership with funds  as  and i f required. Therefore, aNer making
enquiries  and based on the sufficient cash reserves  as  at 31 December 2022, the Directors  are of the opinion that the Group
has  adequate resources  to con-nue i ts  opera-onal  ac-vi-es  for the foreseeable future. The Board is  therefore of the
opinion that the going concern bas is  should be adopted in the prepara-on of the Consol idated Financial  Statements .
Further detai l  can be found in the Viabi l i ty Statement.
 
Investment Manager
ANer careful  cons idera-on of the I nvestment Manager's  performance, primari ly in terms of advice, managing the porQol io
and communica-ng effec-vely with shareholders , the Board agreed that i t would be in the best interests  of the Company
that the Investment Manager continues  on the current agreed contractual  terms.
 
The I nvestment Management Agreement wi l l  con-nue in force un-l  terminated: (i ) upon the dissolu-on of the I nvestment
Partnership; (i i ) by the I nvestment Manager, voluntari ly, upon 180 days ' prior wri�en no-ce to the Managing Partner and
the Investment Partnership; or (i i i ) automatical ly upon removal  of the General  Partner.
 
Risk Management and Risk Control
The Board is  required to annual ly review the effec-veness  of the Company's  key internal  controls  such as  financial ,
opera-onal  and compl iance controls  and risk management. The Board has  documented the controls  to be reviewed and
wi l l  review their effec-veness  on an ongoing bas is .  The controls  are des igned to ensure that the risk of fa i lure to achieve
business  objec-ves  is  managed rather than el iminated, and are intended to provide reasonable, rather than absolute,
assurance against materia l  misstatement or loss . Through regular meetings  and meetings  of the Audit Committee, the Board
seeks  to maintain ful l  and effective control  over a l l  s trategic, financial , regulatory and operational  i ssues.



seeks  to maintain ful l  and effective control  over a l l  s trategic, financial , regulatory and operational  i ssues.
 
The Board maintains  an organisa-onal  and commi�ee structure with clearly defined l ines  of responsibi l i ty and delega-on
of authori-es. The Company's  system of internal  control  includes  inter alia the overal l  control  exercise, procedures  for the
iden-fica-on and evalua-on of bus iness  risk, the control  procedures  themselves  and the review of these internal  controls
by the Audit Commi�ee on behalf of the Board. Each of these elements  that make up the Company's  system of internal
control  i s  explained in further detai l  as  fol lows:
 
(i ) Control  environment
The Company is  ul-mately dependent upon the qual i ty and integri ty of the staff and management of both i ts  I nvestment
Manager and Administra-on and Company Secretaria l  service provider. I n each case, qual ified and able individuals  have
been selected at a l l  levels . The staff of both the I nvestment Manager and Administrator are aware of the internal  controls
relevant to their ac-vi-es  and are a lso col lec-vely accountable for the opera-on of those controls . Appropriate
segrega-on and delega-on of du-es is  in place. The Audit Commi�ee undertakes  a  review of the Company's  financial
controls  on a regular bas is .
 
I n i ts  role as  a  third-party fund administra-on services  provider, Apex Fund and Corporate Services  (Guernsey) Limited
produced an annual  P ER E S SAE 18 and I SAE 3402 Type 2 Assurance Report on the internal  control  procedures  in place for
the year ended 30 September 2022 and this  i s  subject to review by the Audit Commi�ee and the Board. The Directors
acknowledge one excep-on on controls  relevant to the Group, however are comfortable that this  does  not have a
s igni ficant impact on the control  environment.
 
During March 2022 the board performed a thorough evalua-on of the controls  of the I nvestment Manager Administra-on
and the Company Secretaria l  service provider. No exceptions  were noted during the review.
 
(i i ) Identi fication and evaluation of bus iness  risks
Another key bus iness  risk i s  the performance of the Company's  investment. This  i s  managed by the I nvestment Manager,
who undertakes  regular analys is  and repor-ng of bus iness  risks  in rela-on to the STC, who then propose appropriate
courses  of action to the Board for their review.
 
(i i i ) Key procedures
I n addi-on to the above, the Board's  key procedures  involve a  comprehensive system for repor-ng financial  results  to the
Board regularly. A review of controls  i s  conducted by the Audit Commi�ee annual ly, and a twice-yearly review of
investment valuations  by the Board, including reports  on the underlying investment performance.
 
Due to the s ize and nature of the Company and the outsourcing of key services  to the Administrator and I nvestment
Manager, the Company does  not have an internal  audit func-on. I t i s  the view of the Board that the controls  in rela-on to
the opera-ng, accoun-ng, compl iance and I T risks  performed robustly throughout the year. I n addi-on, a l l  key procedures
have been in ful l  compl iance with the various  pol icies  and external  regulations, including:
 
§ Investment pol icy, as  outl ined in the IPO documentation
§ Personal  Account Deal ing
§ Whistleblowing Pol icy
§ Anti -Bribery Pol icy
§ Appl icable Financial  Conduct Authori ty Regulations
§ Treatment and handl ing of confidentia l  information
§ Confl icts  of interest
§ Compl iance pol icies
§ Market Abuse Regulation
 
The Company has  delegated the provis ion of a l l  services  to external  service providers  whose work is  overseen by the Board.
Each year a  short ques-onnaire is  ci rculated to a l l  external  service providers  reques-ng thorough detai ls  in regard to
controls , personnel  and informa-on technology, amongst others . This  i s  in order to provide addi-onal  detai l  when
reviewing the performance pursuant to their terms of engagement.
 
There were no protected disclosures  made pursuant to the whistleblowing pol icy of service providers  in rela-on to the
Company, during the year ended 31 December 2022 (unchanged from prior year).
I n summary, the Board cons iders  that the Company's  exis-ng internal  controls , coupled with the analys is  of risks  inherent
in the bus iness  models  of the Company and i ts  subs idiaries , con-nue to provide appropriate tools  for the Company to
monitor, evaluate and mitigate i ts  risks .
 
Remuneration
 
There is  currently no Remunera-on Commi�ee for the Company as  i t i s  deemed that the s ize, composi-on and structure of
the Company would mean the process  would be inefficient and counter-productive. 
 
Level and Components of Remuneration
 
D irectors  are paid in accordance with agreed principles  covering various  func-ons. Further informa-on can be sourced in
the Directors ' Remuneration Report.
 
Procedures
 
The Company has  a  formal  remuneration pol icy, outl ined in the Directors ' Remuneration Report.
 
UK Companies Act, Section 172 Statement
 
W hi lst directly appl icable to UK  domici led companies , the inten-on of the Code is  that the below ma�ers  set out in sec-on
172 of the UK Companies  Act, 2006 are reported on by a l l  l i s ted enti ties .
 
Under Sec-on 172, directors  have a duty to promote the success  of the Company for the benefit of i ts  members  as  a  whole
and in doing so have regard to the consequences  of any decis ions  in the long term, as  wel l  as  having regard to the
Company's  stakeholders  amongst other cons iderations.
 
The importance of stakeholder cons iderations, particularly in the context of decis ion-making, i s  taken into account at every
Board mee-ng. Al l  discuss ions  involve careful  cons idera-on of the longer-term consequences  of any decis ions  and their
impl ications  for stakeholders . 
 
The Board, in conjunc-on with the I nvestment Manager and Broker, engages  ac-vely with Shareholders  to understand their



The Board, in conjunc-on with the I nvestment Manager and Broker, engages  ac-vely with Shareholders  to understand their
views and to ensure their interests  are taken into cons idera-on when determining the Company's  strategic direc-on. Refer
also to the Information and Support Section above.
 
I n the current year the Board and the I nvestment Manager engaged with Shareholders  both at the Annual  General  Mee-ngs
but a lso held additional  meetings  with those shareholders  who voted against or withheld voting at the 2022 AGM.
 
Risk Management
I n order to minimise the risk of fa i lure to achieve bus iness  objec-ves  and promote the success  of the Company, the
Company and the Board ac-vely iden-fies, evaluates , manages  and mi-gates  risk as  wel l  as  con-nual ly evolving the
approach to risk management.  Further detai ls  in connec-on with Risk Management can be found in the Directors  Report
and the Corporate Governance Report.
 
People, Community and Environment
As an external ly managed investment company, the Company has  no direct employees  and minimal  direct impact on the
environment, nor is  i t responsible for the emiss ion of greenhouse gases. The principal  responsibi l i ty to shareholders  is
ensuring that the porQol io is  properly managed. The I nvestment Manager is  responsible for the management of the
porQol io and engages  with the STC in rela-on to their corporate governance prac-ces  and wider community
responsibi l i-es. For further detai ls  on their corporate governance and socia l  prac-ces, refer to the Socia l  Responsibi l i ty
page of the STC's  website. 
 
Anti-Bribery and Corruption
The Board acknowledges  that the Company's  interna-onal  opera-ons may give rise to poss ible cla ims of bribery and
corrup-on. I n cons idera-on of The Bribery Act 2010, enacted in the UK , at the date of this  report the Board had conducted a
review of the perceived risks  to the Company aris ing from bribery and corrup-on to iden-fy aspects  of bus iness  which may
be improved to mi-gate such risks . The Board has  adopted a zero tolerance pol icy towards  bribery and has  rei terated i ts
commitment to carry out bus iness  fa i rly, honestly and openly.
 
Criminal Finances Act
The Board has  a  zero tolerance commitment to preven-ng persons  associated with i t from engaging in criminal  faci l i ta-on
of tax evas ion and wi l l  not work with any service provider who does  not demonstrate the same commitment. The Board has
sa-sfied i tsel f in rela-on to i ts  key service providers  that they have reasonable provis ions  in place to prevent the criminal
faci l i tation of tax evas ion by their own staff or any associated persons.
 
UK Modern Slavery Act
The Board acknowledges  the requirement to provide informa-on about human rights  in accordance with the UK  Modern
Slavery Act. The Board conducts  the bus iness  of the Company ethical ly and with integri ty, and has  a  zero tolerance pol icy
towards  modern s lavery in a l l  i ts  forms. As  the Company has  no employees, a l l  i ts  D irectors  are non-execu-ve and al l  i ts
functions  are outsources, there are no further disclosures  to be made in respect of employees  and human rights .
 
Business Relationships
I n order for the Company to succeed, i t requires  to develop and maintain long term rela-onships  with service providers  for
services  such as  custodian, investment management, administra-on, company secretaria l , external  audit, among others .
The Company values  a l l  of i ts  service providers  and engages  with them on a regular bas is .
 
Business Conduct
The Company is  commi�ed to act responsibly and ensure that the bus iness  operates  in a  responsible and effec-ve manner
and with high standards  in order to meet i ts  objectives .
 
Shareholders
The Board place a  great deal  of importance on communica-on with a l l  shareholders  and wi l l  endeavour to con-nue
effec-ve dia logue with a l l  shareholders . Further informa-on in connec-on with shareholder engagement can be found in
the Corporate Governance Report. Throughout 2023, the Board, both individual ly and col lec-vely, wi l l  con-nue to review
and chal lenge how the Company can con-nue to act in good fa i th to promote the success  of the Company for the benefit of
i ts  members  in the decis ions  taken.
 
 
Report of the Audit Committee
 
The Board is  supported by the Audit Commi�ee, which is comprised of five of  the Directors, not including the Chairman of
the Board. This  wi l l  drop to four members  upon Chris  Legge's  re-rement on 23 May 2023. The Board has  cons idered the
composi-on of the Commi�ee and is  sa-sfied that there are sufficient recent relevant ski l l s  and experience, in par-cular
with the Chairman of the Audit Commi�ee, Christopher Legge, having a  background as  a  Chartered Accountant. His
successor, Linda W i lding, who wi l l  take over as  Chairman of the Audit Commi�ee on 23 May 2023, a lso has  a  background
as  a  Chartered Accountant. The Board is  a lso sa-sfied that the Commi�ee as  a  whole has  competence relevant to the sector
in which the Company operates .
 
Role and Responsibilities
 
The primary role and responsibi l i-es  of the Audit Commi�ee are outl ined in the Commi�ee's  Terms of Reference, avai lable
at the registered office, including:
 
·    Monitoring the integri ty of the financial  s tatements  of the Company and any formal  announcement rela-ng to the

Company's  financial  performance, cons idera-on of the viabi l i ty statement and reviewing s ignificant financial
reporting judgements  contained within said statements  and announcements;

·    Reviewing the Company's  internal  financial  controls , and the Company's  internal  control  and risk management systems;
·    Monitoring the need for an internal  audit function annual ly;
·    Monitoring and reviewing the scope, independence, objec-vity and effec-veness  of the external  auditors , taking into

consideration relevant regulatory and profess ional  requirements;
·    Making recommenda-ons to the Board in rela-on to the appointment, re-appointment and removal  of the external

auditors  and approving their remunera-on and terms of engagement, which in turn can be placed to the shareholders
for their approval  at the AGM;

·    Developing and implemen-ng pol icy on the engagement of the external  auditor to supply non-audit services , taking into
account relevant ethical  guidance regarding the provis ion of non-audit services  by the external  auditors , and repor-ng
to the Board, iden-fying any ma�ers  in respect of which i t cons iders  that ac-on or improvement is  needed and making
recommendations  as  to the steps  to be taken;

·    Reviewing the arrangements  in place to enable Directors  and staff of service providers  to, in confidence, ra ise concerns



·    Reviewing the arrangements  in place to enable Directors  and staff of service providers  to, in confidence, ra ise concerns
about poss ible improprie-es  in ma�ers  of financial  repor-ng or other ma�ers  insofar as  they may affect the
Company;

·    P roviding advice to the Board on whether the annual  financial  s tatements , taken as  a  whole, are fa i r, balanced and
understandable and provide the informa-on necessary for shareholders  to assess  the Company's  performance,
bus iness  model  and strategy; and

·    Repor-ng to the Board on how the Commi�ee discharged al l  relevant responsibi l i-es , undertaken by the Chairman at
each Board meeting.

 
Financial Reporting
 
The primary role of the Audit Commi�ee in rela-on to the financial  repor-ng is  to review with the Administrator,
I nvestment Manager and the Auditor the appropriateness  of the Annual  Report and Audited Consol idated Financial
Statements  and Interim Condensed Consol idated Financial  Statements , concentrating on, amongst other matters :
 
·    The qual i ty and acceptabi l i ty of accounting pol icies  and practices;
·    The clari ty of the disclosures  and compl iance with financial  repor-ng standards  and relevant financial  and governance

reporting requirements;
·    Materia l  areas  in which s igni ficant judgements  have been appl ied or there has  been discuss ion with the Auditor;
·    W hether the Annual  Report and Audited Consol idated Financial  Statements , taken as  a  whole, i s  fa i r, balanced and

understandable and provides  the informa-on necessary for the shareholders  to assess  the Company's  performance,
bus iness  model  and strategy; and

·    Any correspondence from regulators  in relation to the Company's  financial  reporting.
 
To aid i ts  review, the Audit Commi�ee cons iders  reports  from the Administrator and I nvestment Manager and also reports
from the Auditor on the outcomes of their hal f-year review and annual  audit. The Audit Commi�ee supports  the Auditor in
displaying the necessary profess ional  scepticism their role requires .
 
The Commi�ee met three -mes during the year under review; individual  a�endance of Directors  i s  outl ined in the Board
and Committee Meeting Attendance section. The main matters  discussed at those meetings  were:
 
·    Review of auditor independence;
·    Review and approval  of the annual  audit plan of the external  auditors ;
·    Discuss ion and approval  of the fee for the external  audit;
·    Detai led review of the Hal f Year Report and Accounts  and Annual  Report and Consol idated Financial  Statements  and

recommendation for approval  by the Board;
·    Discuss ion of reports  from the external  auditors  fol lowing their interim review and annual  audit;
·    Assessment of the effectiveness  of the external  audit process  as  described below;
·    Review of the Company's  key risks  and internal  controls , including valuation uncertainty as  described below; and
·    Cons idera-on of the UK  Corporate Governance Code 2018, Guidance on Audit Commi�ees and other regulatory

guidel ines , and the subsequent impact upon the Company.
 
The Commi�ee has  a lso reviewed and cons idered the whistleblowing pol icies  in place for the I nvestment Manager and
Administrator and is  sa-sfied the relevant staff can raise concerns  in confidence about poss ible improprie-es  in ma�ers
of financial  reporting or other matters  insofar as  they may affect the Company.
 
Annual General Meeting
 
The Audit Commi�ee Chairman, or other members  of the Audit Commi�ee appointed for the purpose, shal l  a�end each AGM
of the Company, prepared to respond to any shareholder questions  on the Audit Committee's  activi ties .
 
Internal Audit
 
The Audit Commi�ee cons iders  at least once a year whether or not there is  a  need for an internal  audit func-on. Currently,
the Audit commi�ee does  not cons ider there to be a need for an internal  audit func-on, given that there are no employees
in the Group and al l  outsourced func-ons are with par-es  / administrators  who have their own internal  controls  and
procedures. This  i s  evidenced by the internal  control  reports  provided by the providers , which give sufficient assurance
that a  sound system of internal  control  i s  maintained. 
 
Significant Risks in Relation to the Financial Statements
 
Throughout the year, the Audit Committee identi fied a  number of s igni ficant issues  and areas  of key audit risks  in respect of
the Annual  Report and Audited Consol idated Financial  Statements . The Commi�ee reviewed the external  audit plan at an
early stage and concluded that the appropriate areas  of audit risk relevant to the Company had been iden-fied and that
suitable audit procedures  had been put in place to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial  s tatements  as  a  whole
would be free of materia l  misstatements . The below table sets  out the key areas  of risk iden-fied and how the Commi�ee
addressed the issues.
 
Significant Issue Actions to Address Issue
Valua-on and ownership of investment - focus
upon one target company means that any errors  in
valua-on, depending on their s ize, can be highly
materia l . A key risk i s  incorrect pricing used based
on requirement of I F RS taking into account the
market for those shares.

The Audit Commi�ee and Board review detai led
porQol io valua-ons on a regular bas is  throughout
the year under review, and receive confirma-on
from the I nvestment Manager that the pricing bas is
is  appropriate and in l ine with relevant accoun-ng
standards.
 
At 31 December 2022, the Group's  investment
consists  solely of a  non-control l ing interest in S I GC
LLC, which has  received unqual ified audit opinions
s ince incep-on and measures  i ts  balance sheet at
fa ir value. The net asset value of S I GC LLC, obtained
from the audited S I GC LLC financial  s tatements  at
year end, i s  used as  a  proxy for fa i r value to
measure the fa ir value of the I nvestment
Partnership's  investment in SIGC LLC.
 



 
Auditor Tenure and Objectivity
 
The Company's  Auditor, Deloi�e LLP, has  been appointed to act pursuant to an Engagement Le�er s igned in August 2022 and
has  been the Company's  Auditor s ince incep-on in 2017. The Commi�ee reviews the Auditor's  performance on a regular
bas is  with a  detai led formal  review conducted on an annual  bas is  to ensure the Company receives  an op-mal  service. The
re-appointment of the Company's  Auditor wi l l  be subject to annual  shareholder approval  at the AGM. The Auditor i s
required to rotate the audit partner regularly every five years . A new audit partner was  appointed to the Company during
2019.  There are no contractual  obl iga-ons restric-ng the choice of external  auditor and the Company wi l l  cons ider
putting the audit services  contract out to tender at least every ten years . In l ine with the Audit Committee's  review of auditor
independence and audit partner rota-on the tender of the audit was  cons idered during 2019, however i t was  the col lec-ve
view of the Audit Commi�ee that they were sa-sfied with Deloi�e LLP 's  performance and therefore would recommend them
for re-appointment at the Company's  Annual  General  Mee-ng. The re-appointment of Deloi�e was approved by the
shareholders  at the AGM held on 26 May 2022.
  
Deloi�e LLP  regularly updates  the Commi�ee on the rota-on of audit partners , s taff, level  of fees  in propor-on to overal l
fee income of the Company, detai ls  of any rela-onships  between the Auditor, the Company and any target company, and
also provides  overal l  confi rmation from the Auditor of their independence and objectivi ty. 
 
P rior to the implementa-on of the new Crown Dependency Audit Rules  2020 for the period commencing 1 January 2021,
Deloi�e ceased providing tax compl iance services  to the Company.  No non-audit services  are provided by Deloi�e LLP
other than the interim review which is  a  permiss ible non-audit service. See Note 2 of the consol idated financial  s tatements
which summarises  fees  payable to Deloitte LLP.
 
The Audit Commi�ee undertook a formal  review of the external auditor for the year ended 31 December 2022, with no
issues  aris ing. As  a  result of their review, the Commi�ee is  sa-sfied that Deloi�e LLP  is  independent of the Company, the
I nvestment Manager and other service providers  and recommends the con-nuing appointment of the Auditor to the Board.
There are currently no plans  for retendering the audit.
 
Conclusions in Respect of the Financial Statements
 
The produc-on and the audit of the Company's  Annual  Report and Audited Consol idated Financial  Statements  is  a
comprehensive process  requiring input from a number of different contributors . I n order to reach a conclus ion on whether
the Company's  financial  s tatements  are fa ir, balanced and understandable, the Board has  requested that the Commi�ee
advise on whether i t cons iders  that the Annual  Report and Financial  Statements  fulfils  these requirements . I n outl ining
their advice, the Committee has  cons idered the fol lowing:
 
·    The comprehensive documenta-on that i s  in place outl ining the controls  in place for the produc-on of the Annual

Report, including the veri fication processes  in place to confi rm the factual  content;
·    The detai led reviews undertaken at various  stages  of the produc-on process  by the I nvestment Manager, Administrator

and the Committee that are intended to ensure cons istency and overal l  balance; and
·    The controls  enforced by the I nvestment Manager, Administrator and other third party service providers  to ensure

complete and accurate financial  records  and securi ty of the Company's  assets .
 
As  a  result of the work performed during the year, the Audit Commi�ee has  concluded i t has  acted in accordance with i ts
Terms of Reference and ensured the independence and objec-vity of the external  Auditor.   The Annual  Report for the year
ended 31 December 2022, taken as  a  whole, i s  fa i r, balanced and understandable and provides  the informa-on necessary
for shareholders  to assess  the Company's  performance, bus iness  model  and strategy, and has  reported on these findings  to
the Board. The Board's  conclus ions  in this  respect are set out in the Statement of Directors ' Responsibi l i ties .
 
 
Statement of Directors' Responsibilities
 
The Directors  are responsible for preparing the Annual  Report and the Consol idated Financial  Statements  for each
financial  year which give a  true and fa ir view, in accordance with appl icable laws and regula-ons, of the state of
affa irs  of the Company and of the profi t and loss  of the Company for that year.
 
The Companies  (Guernsey) Law, 2008 requires  the directors  to prepare financial  s tatements  for each financial  year.
The financial  s tatements  have been prepared in accordance with International  Financial  Reporting Standards  ("IFRS")
as  adopted by the European Union. I n preparing these financial  s tatements , I nterna-onal  Accoun-ng Standard 1
("IAS1") requires  that directors :
 

·    properly select and apply accounting pol icies ;
·    present informa-on, including accoun-ng pol icies , in a  manner that provides  relevant, rel iable, comparable

and understandable information;
·    provide addi-onal  disclosures  when compl iance with the specific requirements  in I F RSs  are insufficient to

enable users  to understand the impact of par-cular transac-ons, other events  and condi-ons on the
Group's  financial  pos ition and financial  performance; and

·    make an assessment of the Group's  abi l i ty to continue as  a  going concern.
 
The Directors  confirm that they have compl ied with the above requirements  in preparing the Consol idated Financial
Statements . The Directors  are responsible for keeping proper accoun-ng records  that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group's  transac-ons and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any -me the financial  pos i-on of the
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial  s tatements  comply with the Companies  (Guernsey) Law, 2008.
 
They are a lso responsible for safeguarding the assets  of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps  for the
preven-on and detec-on of fraud and other i rregulari-es.  The Directors  are responsible for the maintenance and
integri ty of the corporate and financial  informa-on included on the Company's  website. Legis la-on in Guernsey
governing the prepara-on and dissemina-on of financial  s tatements  may differ from legis la-on in other
jurisdictions.
 
Responsibility statement
 
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:



We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:
 

·    the financial  s tatements , prepared in accordance with I F RS as  adopted in the European Union, give a  true and
fair view of the assets , l iabi l i ties , financial  pos ition and profi t or loss  of the Group;

 
·    the Chairman's  Statement, D irectors ' Report and Corporate Governance Statement include a fa i r review of the

development and performance of the bus iness  and the pos i-on of the Group, together with a  descrip-on of
the principal  risks  and uncertainties  that they face; and

 
·    the annual  report and consol idated financial  s tatements , taken as  a  whole, are fa i r, balanced and understandable

and provide the information necessary for shareholders  to assess  the Company's  performance, bus iness  model
and strategy.

In accordance with section 249 of the Companies  (Guernsey) Law, 2008, each of the Directors  confi rms that, to the best of
their knowledge:
 

·    There is  no relevant audit information of which the Company's  Auditors  are unaware; and
·    Al l  D irectors  have taken the necessary steps  that they ought to have taken to make themselves  aware of any relevant

audit information and to establ ish that the Auditor i s  aware of said information.
 
 

Report on the audit of the financial statements
 

1.    Opinion
 
I n our opinion the financial  s tatements  of Sherborne I nvestors  (Guernsey) C  Limited (the 'parent company') and i ts
subs idiaries  (the 'Group'):
 

·    give a  true and fa ir view of the state of the Group's  affairs  as  at 31 December 2022 and of i ts  loss  for the year
then ended;

·    have been properly prepared in accordance with I nterna-onal  F inancial  Repor-ng Standards  (I F RSs) as
adopted by the European Union;

·    have been prepared in accordance with the requirements  of the Companies  (Guernsey) Law, 2008.
 
We have audited the financial  s tatements  which comprise:

·    the Consol idated Statement of Comprehensive Income;
·    the Consol idated Statement of Financial  Pos ition;
·    the Consol idated Statement of Changes  in Equity;
·    the Consol idated Statement of Cash Flows; and
·    the related notes  1 to 12.

 
The financial  reporting framework that has  been appl ied in their preparation is  appl icable law and IFRSs  as  adopted by the
European Union.
 
 

2.    Basis for opinion
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with I nterna-onal  Standards  on Audi-ng (UK ) (I SAs  (UK )) and appl icable law. O ur
responsibi l i-es  under those standards  are further described in the auditor's  responsibi l i-es  for the audit of the financial
statements  section of our report.
 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical  requirements  that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements  in the UK , including the F inancial  Repor-ng Counci l 's  (the 'F RC's ') Ethical  Standard as  appl ied to l i s ted publ ic
interest en--es, and we have fulfil led our other ethical  responsibi l i-es  in accordance with these requirements . We
confirm that we have not provided any non-audit services  prohibited by the F RC's  Ethical  Standard to the group or the
parent company.
 
We bel ieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is  sufficient and appropriate to provide a bas is  for our opinion.
 

3.    Summary of our audit approach
 
Key audit matters
 
The key audit matter that we identi fied in the current year was:

·    Valuation and ownership of investments  at fa i r value through profi t or loss .
 
Within this  report, key audit matters  are identi fied as  fol lows:

·    Newly identi fied
·    Increased level  of risk
·    Simi lar level  of risk
·    Decreased level  of risk

 
Materiality
 
The materia l i ty that we used for the Group financial  s tatements  in the current year was  £5,294,000 which was determined
on the bas is  of 1% of net asset value ("NAV").
 
Scoping
 
The response to the risk of materia l  misstatement was  performed directly by the Group audit engagement team.
 
Significant changes in our approach
 
There were no s igni ficant changes  to the audit approach in the current year.
 

4.    Conclusions relating to going concern
 
I n audi-ng the financial  s tatements , we have concluded that the directors ' use of the going concern bas is  of accoun-ng in



I n audi-ng the financial  s tatements , we have concluded that the directors ' use of the going concern bas is  of accoun-ng in
the preparation of the financial  s tatements  is  appropriate.
 
O ur evalua-on of the directors ' assessment of the Group's  and parent company's  abi l i ty to con-nue to adopt the going
concern bas is  of accounting included:
 
·    Evaluated management's  going concern assessment and the relevant disclosures  in the financial  s tatements  including

assess ing the current economic environment and the Group's  investment performance;
·    Evaluated the cash flow forecasts  for reasonableness; and
·    Assessed the key assump-on that the Company, via  the I nvestment Partnership and other underlying funds  and whether

there is  sufficient l iquid assets  to meet costs .
 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not iden-fied any materia l  uncertain-es  rela-ng to events  or condi-ons
that, individual ly or col lec-vely, may cast s ignificant doubt on the Group's  and parent company's  abi l i ty to con-nue as  a
going concern for a  period of at least twelve months  from when the financial  s tatements  are authorised for i ssue.
 
I n rela-on to the repor-ng on how the Group has  appl ied the UK  Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing materia l  to
add or draw a�en-on to in rela-on to the directors ' s tatement in the financial  s tatements  about whether the directors
considered i t appropriate to adopt the going concern bas is  of accounting.
 
O ur responsibi l i-es  and the responsibi l i-es  of the directors  with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections  of this  report.
 

5.    Key audit matters
 
Key audit ma�ers  are those ma�ers  that, in our profess ional  judgement, were of most s ignificance in our audit of the
financial  s tatements  of the current period and include the most s ignificant assessed risks  of materia l  misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) that we iden-fied. These ma�ers  included those which had the greatest effect on: the overal l
audit strategy, the al location of resources  in the audit; and directing the efforts  of the engagement team.
 
These matters  were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial  s tatements  as  a  whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters .
 

5.1  Valuation and ownership of investments at fair value through profit or loss
 
Key audit matter description
 
The Group has  a  s ingle Level  3 investment in S I GC LLC (formerly W histle I nvestors  I I I  LLC) as  at 31 December 2022 of
£524.7m (2021: £575.6m).
 
Management have des ignated i t as  Level  3 in the fa ir value hierarchy due to the a�ributed fa ir value being comprised of the
NAV of the en-ty. The materia l  balances  within this  en-ty are i ts  investments  which are des ignated as  Level  3 investments ,
as  such not a l l  inputs  into the valua-on of S I GC LLC are observable and there may be judgement or es-ma-on uncertainty
within this  balance, and also the corresponding movement in unreal ised gains  or losses .
 
I nvestments  are the most quan-ta-vely s ignificant balance on the consol idated statement of financial  pos i-on and is  an
area of focus  as  they drive the performance and net asset value of the Group. O wing to the fact that key performance
indicators  and performance based remunera-on are based on the net asset value of the Group we have determined there to
be the poten-al  for fraud through poss ible manipula-on of the balance, whether through manipula-on of the ownership
holding or through the value attributed to the holding.
 
Further detai ls  are included within the director's  report, the audit commi�ee report, cri-cal  accoun-ng es-mates  and
judgements  note in note 1 to the financial  s tatements .
 
How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter
 
In order to test the investments  balance as  at 31 December 2022 we performed the fol lowing procedures:
 

·    We obtained an understanding of relevant controls  around the reconci l ia-on of investments  held and the year-end
valua-on of investments . This  included obtaining an understanding of controls  of the administrator, Apex Fund
and Corporate Services  (Guernsey) Limited;
 

·    We evaluated the ownership of S I GC LLC by agreeing the ownership amount to the Limited Liabi l i ty Company
Agreement as  provided by the Managing Member of SIGC LLC;
 

·    We evaluated the recogni-on of S I GC LLC as  an investment that i s  held at fa i r value through profit or loss  despite
SIGC, LP having a  major shareholding;
 

·    We obtained the audited financial  s tatements  of S I GC LLC from the investment manager and assessed whether the
NAV materia l ly reflected that enti ty's  fa i r value;
 

·    We assessed the correla-on of the movement in the NAV of S I GC LLC with the movement in the observable share
price of the underlying investment; and
 

·    We obtained confirma-on from the auditors  of S I GC LLC of the procedures  they performed on the materia l  balances
and any reportable matters .
 

Key observations
 
Based on the work performed we conclude that the valua-on and ownership of the investment held at fa i r value through
profi t or loss  i s  appropriate.
 

6.    Our application of materiality
 

6.1  Materiality
 

We define materia l i ty as  the magnitude of misstatement in the financial  s tatements  that makes  i t probable that the



We define materia l i ty as  the magnitude of misstatement in the financial  s tatements  that makes  i t probable that the
economic decis ions  of a  reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materia l i ty both in
planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results  of our work.
 
Based on our profess ional  judgement, we determined materia l i ty for the financial  s tatements  as  a  whole as  fol lows:
 
Group Materiality
 
£5,294,000 (2021: £5,804,000)
 
Basis for determining materiality
 
1% of the Group NAV (2021: 1% of the Group NAV)
 
Rationale for the benchmark applied
 
I n determining the materia l i ty, we cons idered what the most important balances  on which the users  of the financial
statements  would judge the performance of the Group. As  the investment objec-ve of the Group is  to invest in a  Selected
Target Company ("STC") by the investment manager and real ise a  return on the growth in fa i r value of the investment, we
consider the NAV of the Group to be a key performance indicator for shareholders . We have taken into account industry
benchmarking and appl ied the same benchmark of 1% as  in prior year.
 

6.2  Performance materiality
 
We set performance materia l i ty at a  level  lower than materia l i ty to reduce the probabi l i ty that, in aggregate, uncorrected
and undetected misstatements  exceed the materia l i ty for the financial  s tatements  as  a  whole. Group performance
materia l i ty was  set at 70% of Group materia l i ty for the 2022 audit (2021: 70%). I n determining performance materia l i ty, we
considered the qual i ty of the control  environment including that present at the administrator, Apex Fund and Corporate
Services  (Guernsey) Limited based on i ts  I SAE 3402 report as  wel l  as  our past experience of the audit, which has  indicated a
low number of corrected and uncorrected misstatements  identi fied in prior periods.
 

6.3  Error reporting threshold
 

We agreed with the Audit Commi�ee that we would report to the Commi�ee all audit differences in excess
of £264,000 (2021: £290,000), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted
repor-ng on qualita-ve grounds. We also report to the Audit Commi�ee on disclosure ma�ers that we
identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.
 

7.    An overview of the scope of our audit
 

7.1  Identification and scoping of components
 
O ur Group audit was  scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and i ts  environment, including Group-wide
controls , and assess ing the risks  of materia l  misstatement at the Group level . Balances  were scoped in for tes-ng based on
our assessment of risk of materia l  misstatement.
 
Sherborne I nvestors  (Guernsey) C  Limited is  a  l imited partner in S I GC, LP  ("the I nvestment Partnership"), holding a  99.98%
capital  interest. The I nvestment Partnership holds  the underlying investment in the STC. We have audited both the Group
and the Investment Partnership and therefore the audit team have audited the whole Group directly.
 
At the parent en-ty level  we also tested the consol ida-on process  and carried out analy-cal  procedures  to confirm our
conclus ion that there were no s ignificant risks  of materia l  misstatement of the aggregated financial  informa-on of the
remaining components  not subject to audit or audit of speci fied account balances.
 
The administrator maintains  the books  and records  of the Group. O ur audit therefore included obtaining an understanding
of this  service organisa-on (including obtaining and reviewing their controls  assurance report) and i ts  rela-onship with
the enti ty.
 

7.2  Our consideration of the control environment
 
The accoun-ng func-on for the Group is  provided by Apex Fund and Corporate Services  (Guernsey) Limited ("Apex"). We
have obtained their I SAE 3402 Report for the period 1 O ctober 2021 to 30 September 2022 which documents  the suitabi l i ty
of des ign and opera-ng effec-veness  of controls . We have reviewed the report and extracted the controls  relevant to the
accoun-ng func-ons undertaken by Apex. As  the repor-ng date of the Group is  31 December 2022, we have obtained a
bridging le�er from Apex detai l ing that there have not been any materia l  changes  to the internal  control  environment nor
any materia l  deficiencies  in the internal  controls .
 

7.3  Our consideration of climate-related risks
 

As part of our audit, we made enquiries  of the management to understand the process  they have adopted to assess  the
poten-al  impact of cl imate change on the financial  s tatements . As  disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report,
management cons iders  that the impact of cl imate change does  not give rise to a  materia l  impact on financial  s tatements
the Company has  no direct employees  and minimal  direct impact on the environment, with the I nvestment Manager being
responsible for the management of the porQol io including discuss ions  with the STC in rela-on to their corporate
governance prac-ces  and wider community responsibi l i-es. We used our knowledge of the Company to evaluate
management's  assessment. We have also read the Annual  Report to cons ider whether the disclosures  in rela-on to cl imate
change made in the other informa-on within the Annual  Report are materia l i ty cons istent with the financial  s tatements
and our knowledge obtained in our audit.
 

8.    Other information
 

The other informa-on comprises  the informa-on included in the annual  report, other than the financial  s tatements  and
our auditor's  report thereon. The directors  are responsible for the other information contained within the annual  report.
 
O ur opinion on the financial  s tatements  does  not cover the other informa-on and we do not express  any form of assurance
conclus ion thereon.



conclus ion thereon.
 
O ur responsibi l i ty i s  to read the other informa-on and, in doing so, cons ider whether the other informa-on is  materia l ly
inconsistent with the financial  s tatements , or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears  to be
materia l ly misstated.
 
I f we iden-fy such materia l  incons istencies  or apparent materia l  misstatements , we are required to determine whether this
gives  rise to a  materia l  misstatement in the financial  s tatements  themselves. I f, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is  a  materia l  misstatement of this  other information, we are required to report that fact.
 
We have nothing to report in this  regard.
 

9.    Responsibilities of directors
 

As  explained more ful ly in the directors ' responsibi l i-es  statement, the directors  are responsible for the prepara-on of the
financial  s tatements  and for being sa-sfied that they give a  true and fa ir view, and for such internal  control  as  the
directors  determine is  necessary to enable the prepara-on of financial  s tatements  that are free from materia l
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
 
I n preparing the financial  s tatements , the directors  are responsible for assess ing the Group's  abi l i ty to con-nue as  a  going
concern, disclos ing as  appl icable, ma�ers  related to going concern and us ing the going concern bas is  of accoun-ng unless
the directors  ei ther intend to l iquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no real is tic a l ternative but to do so.
 

10.  Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
 

O ur objec-ves  are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial  s tatements  as  a  whole are free from
materia l  misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's  report that includes  our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is  a  high level  of assurance, but is  not a  guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with I SAs
(UK ) wi l l  a lways  detect a  materia l  misstatement when i t exists . Misstatements  can arise from fraud or error and are
considered materia l  i f, individual ly or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decis ions  of users  taken on the bas is  of these financial  s tatements .
 
A further descrip-on of our responsibi l i-es  for the audit of the financial  s tatements  is  located on the F RC's  website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibi l i ties . This  description forms part of our auditor's  report.
 

11.  Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
 

I rregulari-es, including fraud, are instances  of non-compl iance with laws and regula-ons. We des ign procedures  in l ine
with our responsibi l i-es , outl ined above, to detect materia l  misstatements  in respect of i rregulari-es, including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures  are capable of detecting i rregulari ties , including fraud is  detai led below.
 

11.1                Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
 
I n iden-fying and assess ing risks  of materia l  misstatement in respect of i rregulari-es, including fraud and non-
compl iance with laws and regulations, we cons idered the fol lowing:
 

·    the nature of the industry and sector, control  environment and bus iness  performance including the des ign of the
Group's  remuneration pol icies , key drivers  for directors ' remuneration, bonus levels  and performance targets ;

·    results  of our enquiries  of management, the directors  and the audit commi�ee about their own iden-fica-on and
assessment of the risks  of i rregulari ties , including those that are speci fic to the Group's  sector;

·    any ma�ers  we iden-fied having obtained and reviewed the Group's  documenta-on of their pol icies  and
procedures  relating to:
o  iden-fying, evalua-ng and complying with laws and regula-ons and whether they were aware of any instances

of non-compl iance;
o  detec-ng and responding to the risks  of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual , suspected or

al leged fraud;
o  the internal  controls  establ ished to mitigate risks  of fraud or non-compl iance with laws and regulations;

·    the ma�ers  discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal  specia l is ts ,  including  financial
instrument special is ts , regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial  s tatements  and any poten-al
indicators  of fraud.
 

As  a  result of these procedures, we cons idered the opportuni-es  and incen-ves  that may exist within the organisa-on for
fraud and iden-fied the greatest poten-al  for fraud in the fol lowing areas: the valua-on and ownership of investments  at
fa ir value through profit or loss . I n common with a l l  audits  under I SAs  (UK ), we are a lso required to perform specific
procedures  to respond to the risk of management override.
 
We also obtained an understanding of the legal  and regulatory framework that the Group operates  in, focus ing on
provis ions  of those laws and regula-ons that had a direct effect on the determina-on of materia l  amounts  and disclosures
in the financial  s tatements . The key laws and regula-ons we cons idered in this  context included the Companies  (Guernsey)
Law, 2008 and the Listing Rules .
 
I n addi-on, we cons idered provis ions  of other laws and regula-ons that do not have a direct effect on the financial
statements  but compl iance with which may be fundamental  to the Group's  abi l i ty to operate or to avoid a  materia l  penalty
 

11.2                Audit response to risks identified
 
As a result of performing the above, we iden-fied the valua-on and ownership of investments  at fa i r value through profit
or loss  as  a  key audit ma�er related to the poten-al  risk of fraud. The key audit ma�ers  sec-on of our report explains  the
matter in more detai l  and also describes  the speci fic procedures  we performed in response to that key audit matter.
 
In addition to the above, our procedures  to respond to risks  identi fied included the fol lowing:
 

·    reviewing the financial  s tatement disclosures  and tes-ng to suppor-ng documenta-on to assess  compl iance with
provis ions  of relevant laws and regulations  described as  having a  direct effect on the financial  s tatements;

·    enquiring of management and the audit committee concerning actual  and potentia l  l i tigation and cla ims;
·    performing analy-cal  procedures  to iden-fy any unusual  or unexpected rela-onships  that may indicate risks  of

materia l  misstatement due to fraud;
·    reading minutes  of meetings  of those charged with governance; and

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


·    reading minutes  of meetings  of those charged with governance; and
·    in address ing the risk of fraud through management override of controls , tes-ng the appropriateness  of journal

entries  and other adjustments; assess ing whether the judgements  made in making accoun-ng es-mates  are
indica-ve of a  poten-al  bias ; and evalua-ng the bus iness  ra-onale of any s ignificant transac-ons that are
unusual  or outs ide the normal  course of bus iness .
 

We also communicated relevant iden-fied laws and regula-ons and poten-al  fraud risks  to a l l  engagement team
members , including internal  specia l is ts , and remained alert to any indica-ons of fraud or non-compl iance with laws
and regulations  throughout the audit.

 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
 

12.  Corporate Governance Statement
 
Based on the work undertaken as  part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the fol lowing elements  of the Corporate
Governance Statement is  materia l ly cons istent with the financial  s tatements  and our knowledge obtained during the audit:
 

·    the directors ' s tatement with regards  to the appropriateness  of adop-ng the going concern bas is  of accoun-ng and
any materia l  uncertainties  identi fied;

·    the directors ' explana-on as  to i ts  assessment of the Group's  prospects , the period this  assessment covers  and why
the period is  appropriate set out;

·    the directors ' s tatement on fa ir, balances  and understandable;
·    the board's  confi rmation that i t has  carried out a  robust assessment of the emerging and principal  risks ;
·    the sec-on of the annual  report that describes  the review of effec-veness  of risk management and internal  control

systems; and
·    the section describing the work of the audit committee.

 
13.  Matters on which we are required to report by exception

 
13.1                Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records

 
Under the Companies  (Guernsey) Law, 2008 we are required to report to you i f, in our opinion:
 

·    we have not received al l  the information and explanations  we require for our audit; or
·    proper accounting records  have not been kept by the parent company; or
·    the financial  s tatements  are not in agreement with the accounting records.

 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters .
 

14.  Use of our report
 
This  report i s  made solely to the company's  members , as  a  body, in accordance with Sec-on 262 of the Companies
(Guernsey) Law, 2008. O ur audit work has  been undertaken so that we might state to the company's  members  those
ma�ers  we are required to state to them in an auditor's  report and for no other purpose. To the ful lest extent permi�ed
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibi l i ty to anyone other than the company and the company's  members  as  a
body, for our audit work, for this  report, or for the opinions  we have formed.
 
As  required by the F inancial  Conduct Authori ty (FC A) Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule (DTR) 4.1.14R, these
financial  s tatements  form part of the European Single Electronic Format (ES EF) prepared Annual  F inancial  Report filed on
the Na-onal  Storage Mechanism of the UK  FC A in accordance with the ES EF Regulatory Technical  Standard (('ES EF RTS'). This
auditor's  report provides  no assurance over whether the annual  financial  report has  been prepared us ing the s ingle
electronic format speci fied in the ESEF RTS.
 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 
 For the year ended 31 December 2022  

   1 January 2022 to
31 December 2022

1 January 2021 to
31 December 2021

  Notes £ £ £ £

 Income 1(e)     

 Unreal ised gain/(loss) on financial  assets
at fa i r value through profi t or loss

1(d),
5  (42,799,033)  162,293,243

 Interest income   853  556

Total income/(loss)   (42,798,180)  162,293,799

 Expenses 1(f)     

 Management fees 9 4,329,768  2,912,321  

 Profess ional  fees  342,753  163,261  

 Directors ' fees 2,9 160,000  160,000  

 Administrative fees  141,574  131,355  

 Other fees  210,045  2,320  

Foreign exchange gain  (428,695)  -  

 Total operating expenses   4,755,445  3,369,257

 Comprehensive income/(loss)   (47,553,625)  158,924,542

 Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable



 Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable
to:      

 Equity Shareholders   (47,546,039)  158,891,816

 Non-controlling interest (NCI) 1(b)  (7,586)  32,726

 Weighted average number of shares
outstanding

4
 

700,000,000
 

700,000,000

 Basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to shareholders (excluding NCI) 4

 
(6.79)p

 
22.70p

       

 Al l  revenue and expenses  are derived from continuing operations.    

 
The accompanying notes  form an integral  part of these Consol idated Financial  Statements .
 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
 
As at 31 December 2022

                     2022 2021
Notes £ £ £ £

Non-Current Assets

Financial  assets  at fa i r value
through profi t or loss 1(d),5 524,662,582 575,577,900

 524,662,582 575,577,900

Current Assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 1(h),10 4,974,113 5,026,666

Prepaid expenses  29,831 17,589

 5,003,944  5,044,255

Current Liabilities   

Trade and other payables 1(i),6 227,346 128,650

 227,346 128,650

Net Current Assets   4,776,598  4,915,605

Net Assets  529,439,180 580,493,505

Capital and Reserves    

Cal led up share capital  and
share premium 7 688,939,403 688,939,403

Retained reserves  (159,610,954) (112,276,754)

Equity attributable to the
Company

529,328,449 576,662,649

Non-control l ing interest (NCI) 1(b) 110,731 3,830,856

Total Equity  529,439,180 580,493,505

NAV Per Share (excluding NCI) 8 75.62p 82.38p

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
 
For the year ended 31 December 2022
 

 
Share Capital

and Share
Premium

Retained
Reserves

Non-
Controlling
Interests

Total
Equity

Notes £ £ £ £

Balance at 1 January 2022  688,939,403 (112,276,754) 3,830,856 580,493,505

Comprehensive loss  - (47,546,039) (7,586) (47,553,625)

Incentive a l location reversal - 3,711,839 (3,711,839) -

Distributions 11 - (3,500,000) (700) (3,500,700)

Balance at 31 December 2022  688,939,403 (159,610,954) 110,731 529,439,180

 

 
 

Share Capital Non-



 
Share Capital

and Share
Premium

Retained
Reserves

Non-
Controlling
Interests

Total
Equity

Notes £ £ £ £

Balance at 1 January 2021  688,939,403 (267,456,731) 86,589 421,569,261

Comprehensive income  - 158,891,816 32,726 158,924,542

Incentive a l location  - (3,711,839) 3,711,839 -

Contributions  - - 109,422 109,422

Distributions 11 - - (109,720) (109,720)

Balance at 31 December 2021  688,939,403 (112,276,754) 3,830,856 580,493,505

 
The accompanying notes  form an integral  part of these Consol idated Financial  Statements .
 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
 

For the year ended 31 December 2022 Notes
1 January 2022 to 31

December 2022
1 January 2021 to 31

December 2021
£ £

Net cash flow used in operating activities See below (4,668,991) (3,314,498)

Investing activities

Contribution to investments     5 - (543,574,886)

Distribution from investments  5 8,116,285 549,603,716

Interest income 853 556

Net cash flow (used in)/from investing activities  8,117,138  6,029,386

Financing activities   

Contributions  from non-control l ing interest - 109,422

Distributions  to non-control l ing interest 11 (700) (109,720)

Distributions  to shareholders 11 (3,500,000) -

Net cash flow (used in)/from financing activities  (3,500,700) (298)

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  (52,553) 2,714,590

Opening cash and cash equivalents 5,026,666 2,312,076

Closing cash and cash equivalents 4,974,113 5,026,666

    

   

Net cash flow (used in)/from operating activities   

Comprehensive income/(loss) (47,553,625) 158,924,542

Unreal ised (gain) /loss  on financial  assets  at fa i r value
through profi t or loss 5 42,799,033 (162,293,243)

Movement in prepaid expenses            (12,242) 4,168

Movement in trade and other payables   6 98,696 50,591

Interest income (853) (556)

Net cash flow used in operating activities (4,668,991) (3,314,498)

 
The accompanying notes  form an integral  part of these Consol idated Financial  Statements .
 
 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
1. Summary of significant accounting policies
 
Reporting entity
 
Sherborne I nvestors  (Guernsey) C  Limited (the "Company") i s  a  closed-ended investment company with l imited l iabi l i ty
formed under the Companies  (Guernsey) Law, 2008 (as  amended). The Company was incorporated and registered in
Guernsey on 25 May 2017. The Company commenced deal ings  on the London Stock Exchange's  Special is t Fund Segment on
12 July 2017. The Company's  registered office is  1 Royal  P laza, Royal  Avenue, St Peter Port, Guernsey, Channel  I s lands, GY1
2H L. The "Group" is  defined as  the Company and i ts  subs idiary, S I GC, LP  (I ncorporated) (the "I nvestment Partnership")
which was establ ished/incorporated in Guernsey. S I GC Midco Limited, a  former whol ly-owned subs idiary of the Company,
was dissolved fol lowing the year end.
 
Basis of preparation
 
The Consol idated Financial  Statements  of the Group have been prepared in accordance with I nterna-onal  F inancial
Repor-ng Standards  ("I F RS") as  adopted in the European Union, which comprise standards  and interpreta-ons approved



Repor-ng Standards  ("I F RS") as  adopted in the European Union, which comprise standards  and interpreta-ons approved
by the I nterna-onal  Accoun-ng Standards  Board and I nterna-onal  Accoun-ng Standards  and Standing I nterpreta-ons
Commi�ee interpreta-ons approved by the I nterna-onal  Accoun-ng Standards  Commi�ee that remain in effect, together
with appl icable legal  and regulatory requirements  of Guernsey law. The Directors  of the Company have taken the exemp-on
in Sec-on 244 of the Companies  (Guernsey) Law, 2008 (as  amended) and have therefore elected to only prepare
Consol idated Financial  Statements  for the year.
 
These Consol idated Financial  Statements  have been prepared on the historical  cost bas is , as  modified by the measurement
at fa i r value of investments .
 
Going concern
 
Under the UK  Corporate Governance Code 2018 and appl icable regula-ons, the Directors  are required to sa-sfy themselves
that i t i s  reasonable to assume that the Group is  a  going concern.
 
The Board is  of the opinion that the going concern bas is  should be adopted in the prepara-on of the Consol idated
Financial  Statements . Further detai l  can be found in the Viabi l i ty Statement. 
 
The Directors  have undertaken a rigorous  review of the Group's  abi l i ty to con-nue as  a  going concern including reviewing
the ongoing cash flows and the level  of cash balances  as  of the repor-ng date, as  wel l  as  taking forecasts  of future cash
flows into cons ideration.
 
The Consol idated Financial  Statements  have been prepared on the going concern bas is . The net current asset pos i-on as  at
31 December 2022 is  £4.8 mi l l ion. The Directors  have cons idered the impact to the Company, as  wel l  as  to Navient
Corpora-on's  ("Navient") and the Company's  stock prices , of the current economic environment, including the current
interest rates  and infla-onary environment, and have concluded that there is  no impact on the going concern. The
considera-on also factored in the con-nuing uncertainty around the Russ ian invas ion in Ukraine and the resul-ng impact
on the global  economy. At 31 December 2022 the Company had a NAV of £529.3 mi l l ion. The Company, via  the I nvestment
Partnership and other funds  (the "Funds"), has  sufficient l iquid assets  to meet expected costs . The I nvestment Manager,
affil iates  of which are a lso the investment manager of the Funds, has  the ful l  intent and abi l i ty to provide the Company (via
the Investment Partnership) with funds  as  and i f required.
 
ANer making enquiries  of Sherborne I nvestors  Management (Guernsey) LLC (the "I nvestment Manager") and Apex Fund and
Corporate Services  (Guernsey) Limited (the "Administrator") and based on sufficient cash reserves  as  at 31 December 2022,
the Directors  have a reasonable expecta-on that the Group has  adequate resources  to con-nue in opera-onal  existence
for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they con-nue to adopt a  going concern bas is  in preparing these audited
Consol idated Financial  Statements . Please see the Corporate Governance section.
 
Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty
 
The prepara-on of the Group's  Consol idated Financial  Statements  requires  management to make es-mates  and
assump-ons that affect the reported amounts  of assets , l iabi l i-es  and con-ngencies  at the date of the Group's
Consol idated Financial  Statements  and revenue and expenses  during the reported year. Actual  results  could differ from
those estimated.
 
i ) Cri tical  accounting judgement: Incentive a l location
 
As  more ful ly described in Note 9, the Special  Limited Partner is  en-tled to receive an incen-ve al loca-on once aggregate
distribu-ons to partners  of the I nvestment Partnership exceed a certain level . The bas is  of the incen-ve calcula-on differs
depending on how the investment in the Selected Target Company ("STC") i s  ul-mately characterised (i .e. as  a  Turnaround
or Stake Bui lding I nvestment). The incen-ve al loca-on has  been computed on a Stake Bui lding I nvestment bas is , as  i t does
not meet the cri teria  of a  Turnaround investment.
 
i i ) Cri tical  accounting judgement: Consol idation of enti ties
 
As  described further in Note 5, as  of 31 December 2022 the Group holds  a  non-control l ing interest in S I GC LLC (formerly
known as  W histle I nvestors  I I I  LLC). W hi lst the Group holds  a  majori ty interest in S I GC LLC and holds  access  to the rewards
and benefits , i t does  not exercise control  over the day to day opera-ons nor does  i t have the abi l i ty to remove the
control l ing party. As  such, S I GC LLC is  not cons idered a subs idiary and is  not consol idated but held at fa i r value through
profi t or loss .
 
i i i ) Source of estimation uncertainty: Financial  assets  at fa i r value through profi t or loss
 
The Group's  investments  are measured at fa i r value for financial  repor-ng purposes. The fa ir value of financial  assets  i s
based on the net asset value ("NAV") of the investment including al l  i tems of income, such as  dividends, and expense. The
main contribu-on to their NAV is  the quoted clos ing price of Navient and the Company as  at 31 December 2022. P lease see
Note 5 for further detai ls .
 
Adoption of new and revised standards
 
(i) New standards adopted as at 1 January 2022:

The following standard is effec-ve for the first -me for the financial period beginning 1 January 2022 and is
relevant to the Group and Company's operations:

·    IAS 37 (amended), 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets'.

In addi-on, the IASB has issued the following publica-on - 'Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-
2020', published in May 2020, which has amended certain exis-ng standards, effec-ve for accoun-ng periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2022.
 
The above standards have been adopted and did not have a material impact on the financial statements.

(ii) Standards, amendments and interpretations early adopted by the Group:
 
There were no standards, amendments and interpretations early adopted by the Group.



There were no standards, amendments and interpretations early adopted by the Group.
 
(iii) Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective:
 
The following standards which are relevant to the Company and its Group, which have not been applied in
these Financial Statements, were in issue at the reporting date but not yet effective:

·    IAS 1 (amended), 'Presenta-on of Financial Statements' - (effec-ve for accoun-ng periods
commencing
on or after 1 January 2023)

·    IAS 8 (amended), 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors' - (effective for
accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2023)

 
The amendments to IAS 1 were published in January 2020 and relate to the classification of liabilities. The
amendments to IAS 8 were published in February 2021 and clarify how companies should dis-nguish changes
in
accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates.
 
The Directors  do not cons ider the adop-on of any new and revised accoun-ng standards  and interpreta-ons to have a
materia l  impact as  the new standards  or amendment are not relevant to the operations  of the Group.
 
a. Basis of consolidation
 
The Consol idated Financial  Statements  incorporate the financial  s tatements  of the Company and one en-ty control led by
the Company (i ts  subs idiary). Control  i s  achieved where the Company has  the power to govern the financial  and opera-ng
pol icies  of an investee en-ty so as  to obtain benefits  from i ts  ac-vi-es. I nvestments  where a majori ty interest i s  held but
control  i s  not achieved are held at fa i r value through profi t or loss .
 
Non-control l ing interests  in the net assets  of the consol idated subs idiary are iden-fied separately from the Group's  equity
therein. Non-control l ing interests  cons ist of the amount of those interests  at the date of the original  bus iness  combina-on
and the non-control l ing en--es' share of changes  in equity s ince the date of the combina-on. Losses  appl icable to the non-
control l ing en--es in excess  of their interest in the subs idiary's  equity are a l located against their interests  to the extent
that this  would create a  negative balance.
 
W here necessary, adjustments  are made to the financial  s tatements  of the subs idiary to bring the accoun-ng pol icies  used
into l ine with those used by the Group.
 
Al l  intra-group transactions, balances  and expenses  are el iminated on consol idation.
 
The Company owns 99.98% of the capital  interest in the I nvestment Partnership. W hi lst the general  partner of the
I nvestment Partnership, Sherborne I nvestors  (Guernsey) GP, LLC, a  company registered in Delaware, USA, i s  responsible for
direc-ng the day to day opera-ons of the I nvestment Partnership, the Company, through i ts  majori ty interest in the
I nvestment Partnership, has  the abi l i ty to approve the proposed investment of the I nvestment Partnership and to remove
the general  partner. Hence, the Company has  consol idated the Investment Partnership in i ts  financial  s tatements .
 
b. Non-controlling interest
 
The interest of non-control l ing par-es  in the subs idiary is  measured at the minori ty's  propor-on of the net fa i r value of the
assets , l iabi l i ties  and contingent l iabi l i ties  recognised.
 
c. Functional currency
 
I tems included in the Consol idated Financial  Statements  of the Group are measured us ing the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the en-ty operates . The Consol idated Financial  Statements  are presented in Pound Sterl ing
("£"), which is  the Group's  func-onal  and presenta-onal  currency. Transac-ons in currencies  other than £ are trans lated
at the rate of exchange rul ing at the date of the transac-on. Monetary assets  and l iabi l i-es  denominated in foreign
currencies  at the date of the Consol idated Statement of F inancial  Pos i-on are retrans lated into £ at the rate of exchange
rul ing at that date. Exchange di fferences  are reported in the Consol idated Statement of Comprehensive Income.
 
d. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
 
I nvestments , including equity investments  in associates , are des ignated at fa i r value through profit or loss  in accordance
with I F RS 9 'F inancial  instruments ', as  the Group's  bus iness  model  i s  to invest in financial  assets  with a  view to profi-ng
from their total  return in the form of interest and changes  in fa i r value. Under I nterna-onal  Accoun-ng Standard 28
'I nvestments  in Associates ', the fund can hold i ts  investments  at fa i r value through profit or loss  rather than as  an
associate as  the Investment Partnership is  a  closed-ended fund.
 
I nvestments  in vo-ng shares  and deriva-ve contracts  are ini-al ly recognised at cost and subsequently re-measured at fa i r
value, as  determined by the Directors . Unreal ised gains  or losses  aris ing from the revalua-on of investments  in vo-ng
shares  and derivative contracts  are taken directly to the Consol idated Statement of Comprehensive Income.
 
The Group's  investments  are measured at fa i r value for financial  repor-ng purposes  as  described earl ier in Note 1 under
cri tical  accounting judgements  and key sources  of estimation uncertainty.
 
I n determining fa ir value in accordance with I F RS 13 'Fair Value Measurement' ("I F RS 13"), investments  measured and
reported at fa i r value are class i fied and disclosed in one of the fol lowing categories  within the fa ir value hierarchy:
 
L evel I - An unadjusted quoted price for iden-cal  assets  and l iabi l i-es  in an ac-ve market provides  the most rel iable
evidence of fa i r value and is  used to measure fa ir value whenever avai lable.  As  required by I F RS 13, the Group wi l l  not
adjust the quoted price for these investments , even in s i tua-ons where i t holds  a  large pos i-on and a sale could
reasonably impact the quoted price.
 
L evel II - I nputs  are other than unadjusted quoted prices  in ac-ve markets , which are ei ther directly or indirectly
observable as  of the repor-ng date, and fa ir value is  determined through the use of models  or other valua-on
methodologies .
 
Level III - I nputs  are unobservable for the investment and include s i tua-ons where there is  l i�le, i f any, market ac-vity for



the investment. The inputs  into the determination of fa i r value require s igni ficant management judgement or estimation.
 
The Group's  investments  are summarised by Level  in Note 5. O n disposal  of shares , cost of investments  are a l located on a
fi rst in, fi rst out bas is .
 
e. Revenue recognition               
 
Dividend income is  recognised when the Group's  right to receive payment has  been establ ished. Tax suffered on dividend
income for which no rel ief i s  avai lable is  treated as  an expense.
 
I nvestment income and interest receivable from short-term deposits  and Treasury gi l ts  are recognised on an accruals
bas is .  W here receipt of investment income is  not l ikely un-l  the maturi ty or real isa-on of an investment then the
investment income is  accounted for as  an increase in the fa ir value of the investment.
 
f. Expenses
 
Al l  expenses  are accounted for on an accruals  bas is . Expenses  are charged through the Consol idated Statement of
Comprehensive Income in the year in which they occur.
 
g. Prepaid expenses and trade receivables
 
Trade and other receivables  are ini-al ly recognised at fa i r value and subsequently, where necessary, re-measured at
amor-sed cost us ing the effec-ve interest method. A provis ion for impairment of trade receivables  is  establ ished when
there is  objec-ve evidence the Group wi l l  not be able to col lect a l l  amounts  due according to the original  terms of the
receivables . The Group only holds  trade receivables  with no financing component and which have maturi-es  of less  than
12 months  at amortised cost and has  therefore appl ied the s impl i fied approach to expected credit loss .
 
h. Cash and cash equivalents
 
Cash and cash equivalents  comprise cash in hand, cal l  and current balances  with banks  and s imi lar ins-tu-ons, which
are readi ly conver-ble to known amounts  of cash and which are subject to ins ignificant risk of changes  in value. This
defini-on is  a lso used for the Consol idated Statement of Cash Flows. The carrying amount of these assets  approximate
their fa i r value, unless  otherwise stated.
 
i. Trade and other payables
 
Trade and other payables  are ini-al ly recognised at fa i r value and subsequently, where necessary, re-measured at
amortised cost us ing the effective interest method.      
 
j. Financial instruments               
 
Financial  assets  and l iabi l i-es  are recognised in the Group's  Consol idated Statement of F inancial  Pos i-on when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual  provis ions  of the instrument.
 
k. Segmental reporting
 
As the Group invests  in one investee company, there is  no segrega-on between industry, currency or geographical  loca-on
and therefore no further disclosures  are required in conjunction with IFRS 8 'Operating Segments '.
 
l. Incentive allocation
 
The incen-ve al loca-on is  accounted for on an accruals  bas is  and the calcula-on is  disclosed in Note 9. The incen-ve
al loca-on is  payable to the non-control l ing interest and therefore recognised in the Consol idated Statement of Changes  in
Equity rather than recognised as  an expense in the Consol idated Statement of Comprehensive Income.
 
2. Comprehensive income/(loss)
 
The consol idated comprehensive income/(loss) has  been arrived at after charging:
 

1 January 2022 to
31 December 2022

1 January 2021 to
31 December 2021

£ £

Directors ' fees 160,000 160,000

Auditor's  remuneration - Audit 47,000 42,344

Auditor's  remuneration - Interim review 28,000 24,150
 
3. Tax on ordinary activities
 
The Company has  been granted exemp-on from income tax in Guernsey under the I ncome Tax (Exempt Bodies) (Bai l iwick of
Guernsey) O rdinance 1989, and is  l iable to pay an annual  fee (currently £1,200 per company) under the provis ions  of the
O rdinance. As  such i t wi l l  not be l iable to income tax in Guernsey other than on Guernsey source income (excluding deposit
interest on funds  deposited with a  Guernsey bank). No withholding tax is  appl icable to distribu-ons to Shareholders  by the
Company.
 
The I nvestment Partnership wi l l  not i tsel f be subject to taxa-on in Guernsey. No withholding tax is  appl icable to
distributions  to partners  of the Investment Partnership.
 
I ncome which is  whol ly derived from the bus iness  opera-ons conducted on behalf of the I nvestment Partnership with, and
investments  made in, persons  or companies  who are not res ident in Guernsey wi l l  not be regarded as  Guernsey source
income.  Such income wi l l  not therefore be l iable to Guernsey tax in the hands of non-Guernsey res ident l imited partners .
 
Dividend income is  shown gross  of any withholding tax.
 
The Funds may be l iable to pay withholding tax on behalf of non-US persons, such as  the Company, on dividend income
from US sources, such as  Navient. The maximum statutory withholding tax rate is  30%.
 
4. Earnings per share
 



 
The calcula-on of bas ic and di luted earnings  per share is  based on the return on ordinary ac-vi-es  less  total
comprehensive income a�ributable to the non-control l ing interest and on there being 700,000,000 (2021: 700,000,000)
weighted average number of shares  in issue during the year. The earnings  per share for the year a�ributable to equity
shareholders  ended 31 December 2022 amounted to a  deficit of 6.79 pence per share (year ended 31 December 2021: 22.70
pence per share).
 

Date Shares Days in issue
Weighted         Average

Shares
1 January 2022 700,000,000 700,000,000
31 December 2022 700,000,000 365 700,000,000

 
5. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
 
 2022 2021

£ £
Opening fa ir value 575,577,900 419,313,486
Contribution to investments - 543,574,886
Distributions  from investments (8,116,285) (549,603,716)
Unreal ised gain/(loss) on financial  assets  at fa i r value
through profi t or loss

 
(42,799,033)

 
162,293,244

Closing fair value 524,662,582 575,577,900
 
The fol lowing tables  summarise by level  within the fa ir value hierarchy the Group's  financial  assets  and l iabi l i-es  at fa i r
value as  fol lows :
 

 Level I Level II Level III Total
31 December 2022 £ £ £ £
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - - 524,662,582 524,662,582

 Level I Level II Level III Total
31 December 2021 £ £ £ £
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - - 575,577,900 575,577,900
 
I n May 2021, the I nvestment Partnership and other third-party investors  in the Funds managed by affil iates  of the
I nvestment Manager disposed of the Funds ' en-re shareholding in Barclays  P LC ("Barclays").  I n accordance with the
Company's  prospectus, the Board of the Company approved a new STC which was identi fied in December 2021 as  Navient.
 
As  at 31 December 2022, the Group's  investment cons ists  solely of a  non-control l ing interest in S I GC LLC  (formerly W histle
I nvestors  I I I  LLC) which was organised to invest in the STC. W ith S I GC LLC's  balance sheet being measured at fa i r value, the
NAV of S I GC LLC provides  the best es-mate of fa i r value for the I nvestment Partnership's  investment in S I GC LLC. As  at the
year end, S I GC LLC's  investment, via  an intermediary, cons isted of i ts  non-control l ing interest in Newbury I nvestors  LLC
("Newbury"). Newbury's  investment in the STC cons isted of both common stock of Navient and of the Company. The
I nvestment Manager con-nual ly evaluates  the op-mal  a l loca-on of Newbury's  ownership of shares  in Navient versus
those of the Company. The I nvestment Manager may from -me to -me buy or sel l  shares  in Navient and the Company to
adjust the al loca-on. Some of the factors  in the al loca-on decis ion include the rela-ve l iquidity of the shares  of Navient
and the Company, the discount to net asset value at which the Company's  shares  trade and various  tac-cal  cons idera-ons,
and general  market condi-ons. Furthermore, the level  I I I  investments  disclosed in the financial  s tatements  are solely
comprised of the Group's  non-control l ing interest in S I GC LLC. The value of those investments  equated to the Group's
maximum exposure to loss  from the SIGC LLC and Newbury.
 
A reconci l iation of fa i r value measurements  in Level  III  i s  set out in the fol lowing table:
 
 2022 2021
 £ £
Opening fair value 575,577,900 419,313,486
Contribution to investments - 543,574,886
Distributions from investments (8,116,285) (549,603,716)
Unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (42,799,033) 162,293,244

Closing fair value 524,662,582 575,577,900

 
Capital  contribu-ons made during the year ended 31 December 2021 were for investment into the new STC. Capital
distribu-ons made during the year ended 31 December 2021 were to distribute proceeds from the disposal  of the Barclays
investment. Capital  distribu-ons made during the year ended 31 December 2022 were made to return excess  funds  drawn
including the funding of the Company's  dividend payment.
 
The key unobservable input in the valua-on of the Level  I I I  investment is  the value of S I GC LLC's  indirect non-control l ing
interests  in the underlying intermediaries  which is  impacted by the share price of the Navient and the Company.
 
Refer to Note 10 for the sens itivi ty analys is  regarding changes  in the Navient and the Company share prices .
 
6. Trade and other payables
 

 2022 2021
 £ £

Profess ional  fees  payable 144,628 31,062

Administration fees  payable 33,633 64,319

Audit fees  payable 47,000 31,354

Other fees  payable 2,085 1,915

Total 227,346 128,650
 
7. Consolidated share capital and share premium



7. Consolidated share capital and share premium
 

As at 31 December 2022 As at 31 December 2021

Authorised share capital No. No.

Ordinary Shares  of no par value Unl imited Unl imited

Issued and fully paid No. No.

Ordinary Shares  of no par value 700,000,000 700,000,000

 

As at 31 December 2022 As at 31 December 2021

Share premium account £ £

Share premium account upon issue 700,000,000 700,000,000

Less: Costs  of i ssue (11,060,597) (11,060,597)

Clos ing balance 688,939,403 688,939,403
 
Each Ordinary share has  equal  voting rights  and no par value with no right to fixed income.
 
8. Net asset value per share attributable to the Company (excluding NCI)
                                                                                                                               Basic and Diluted

 No. of Shares Pence per Share

31 December 2022 700,000,000 75.62

31 December 2021 700,000,000 82.38

 
9. Related party transactions

The Investment Partnership and its General Partner, have engaged Sherborne Investors Management
(Guernsey) LLC to serve as Investment Manager who is responsible for iden-fying the STC, subject to
approval by the Board of Directors of the Company, as well as day to day management ac-vi-es of the
Investment Partnership. The Investment Manager is en-tled to receive from the Investment Partnership a
monthly management fee equal to one-twelNh of 1% of the net asset value of the Investment Partnership,
less cash and cash equivalents and certain other adjustments. During the year, management fees of
£4,329,768
(year ended 31 December 2021: £2,912,321) were paid by the Investment Partnership. No balance was
outstanding at the year end (31 December 2021: £Nil).
 
The Special  Limited Partner interest was  held by Sherborne I nvestors  Limited, a  whol ly owned subs idiary of Sherborne
I nvestors  LP  through 11 May 2021. Effec-ve on 12 May 2021 the Special  Limited Partner interest was  transferred from
Sherborne I nvestors  Limited to Sherborne I nvestors  LP  (Sherborne I nvestors  (Guernsey) GP, LLC and Sherborne I nvestors  LP
are the Non-control l ing interests). The Special  Limited Partner is  en-tled to receive an incen-ve al loca-on once aggregate
distribu-ons to partners  of the I nvestment Partnership, of which one is  the Company, exceed a certain level  of capital
contributions  to the Investment Partnership, excluding amounts  contributed attributable to management fees.
 
For Turnaround investments , the incen-ve al loca-on is  computed at 10% of the distribu-ons to a l l  partners  in excess  of
110%, increas ing to 20% of the distribu-ons to a l l  partners  in excess  of 150% and increas ing to 25% of the distribu-ons to
al l  partners  in excess  of 200% of capital  contributions, excluding amounts  contributed attributable to management fees. An
investment is  cons idered a Turnaround investment when a member of the General  Partner is  appointed chairman of, or
accepts  an executive role at, the STC.
 
I f, aNer acquiring a  shareholding, the share price of the STC rises  to a  level  at which further investment and the effort of a
Turnaround is , in the I nvestment Manager's  opinion, no longer jus-fied or otherwise no longer presents  a  viable
Turnaround opportunity, the I nvestment Partnership intends to sel l  (and distribute the proceeds to the Company) or
distribute in kind the holding to the l imited partners  (in each case aNer deduc-ons for any costs  and expenses  and for the
I nvestment Partnership's  Minimum Capital  Requirements  and subject to appl icable law and regula-on), rather than
seeking to join the Board of Directors  or otherwise engage with the STC (a  "Stake Bui lding Investment").
 
For Stake Bui lding I nvestments , the incen-ve al loca-on is  computed at 20% of net returns  on the investment of the
I nvestment Partnership, such amount to be payable aNer each partner in the I nvestment Partnership has  had distributed to
it an amount equal  to i ts  aggregate capital  contribu-on to the I nvestment Partnership in respect to the Stake Bui lding
I nvestment (excluding any capital  contribu-ons a�ributable to management fees). The Special  Limited Partner may waive
or defer a l l  or any part of any incentive a l location otherwise due.
 
At 31 December 2022, the incen-ve al loca-on has  been computed based on a Stake Bui lding I nvestment bas is  and amounts
to £Ni l  (31 December 2021: £3,711,839) in rela-on to the investment held by the I nvestment Partnership. The movement in
the incentive a l location during the year was  due to the decrease in the value of the investment.
 
Each of the Directors  (other than the Chairman) receives  a  fee payable by the Company currently at a  rate of £35,000 per
annum. The Chairman of the Audit Commi�ee receives  £5,000 per annum in addi-on to such fee. The Chairman receives  a
fee payable by the Company currently at the rate of £50,000 per annum.
 
I ndividual ly and col lec-vely, the Directors  of the Company hold no shares  of the Company as  at 31 December 2022 (2021:
ni l ).
 
Sherborne I nvestors  GP, LLC has  granted to the Company a non-exclus ive l icence to use the name "Sherborne I nvestors" in
the UK  and the Channel  I s lands  in the corporate name of the Company and in connec-on with the conduct of the Company's
bus iness  affairs . The Company may not sub-l icence or ass ign i ts  rights  under the Trademark Licence Agreement. Sherborne
Investors  GP, LLC receives  a  fee of £70,000 per annum for the use of the l icenced name.
 
10. Financial risk factors
 
The Group's  investment objec-ve is  to real ise capital  growth from investment in the STC, iden-fied by the I nvestment



The Group's  investment objec-ve is  to real ise capital  growth from investment in the STC, iden-fied by the I nvestment
Manager, with the aim of genera-ng s ignificant capital  return for Shareholders . Cons istent with that objec-ve, the Group's
financial  instruments  mainly comprise an investment in a  STC. I n addi-on, the Group holds  cash and cash equivalents  as
wel l  as  having trade and other receivables  and trade and other payables  that arise directly from i ts  operations.
 
Liquidity risk
 
The Group's  cash and cash equivalents  are placed in demand deposits  with a  range of financial  ins-tu-ons. The l i s ted
investment in the STC could be par-al ly redeemed rela-vely quickly (within 3 months) should the Group need to meet
obl igations  or ongoing expenses  as  and when they fa l l  due.
 
The fol lowing table detai ls  the l iquidity analys is  for financial  l iabi l i-es  at the date of the Consol idated Statement of
Financial  Pos ition:
 

As at 31 December 2022 Less than 1 month 1 - 12 months 1 - 2 years Total

 £ £ £ £

Trade and other payables (116,928) (110,418) - (227,346)
 (116,928) (110,418) - (227,346)

 
 

As at 31 December 2021 Less than 1 month 1 - 12 months 1 - 2 years Total

 £ £ £ £

Trade and other payables (64,331) (64,319) - (128,650)

 (64,331) (64,319) - (128,650)
 
Credit risk
 
The Group is  exposed to credit risk in respect of i ts  cash and cash equivalents , aris ing from poss ible default of the relevant
counterparty, with a  maximum exposure equal  to the carrying value of those assets . The credit risk on l iquid funds  is
mi-gated through the Group deposi-ng cash and cash equivalents  across  several  banks. The Group is  exposed to credit
risk in respect of i ts  trade receivables  and other receivable balances  with a  maximum exposure equal  to the carrying value
of those assets . The Bank of New York Mel lon currently has  a  stand-alone credit ra-ng of AA- with Standard & Poor's , Royal
Bank of Scotland I nterna-onal  has  a  stand-alone credit ra-ng of A- with Standard & Poor's  whi lst Barclays  Bank P LC has  a
standalone credit ra-ng of A with Standard & Poor's  (2021: A with Standard & Poor's ). The Group cons iders  these ra-ngs  to
be acceptable.
 
Market price risk
 
Market price risk arises  as  a  result of the Group's  exposure to the future values  of the share price of the STC including the
share price of Navient and the Company. I t represents  the poten-al  loss  that the Group may suffer through inves-ng in the
STC.
 
As  at 31 December 2022, the share price of Navient and the Company were 16.45 US dol lars  per share and 47.20 pence per
share, respec-vely, which produced the Group's  NAV of £529.3 mi l l ion. At 31 December 2022 a 10% increase/decreases  in
the share price of Navient and the Company would increase/decrease the Group's  NAV by approximately £47.2 mi l l ion.
 
Foreign exchange risk
 
Foreign currency risk arises  as  the value of future transac-ons, recognised monetary assets  and monetary l iabi l i-es
denominated in other currencies  fluctuate due to changes  in foreign exchange rates . The I nvestment Manager monitors  the
Group's  monetary and non-monetary foreign exchange exposure on a regular bas is . S I GC LLC's  investment in the US based
STC during the year exposes  S I GC LLC to foreign currency risk, however, as  a  Group this  i s  cons idered as  part of market
price risk.
 
Interest rate risk
 
The Group is  subject to risks  associated with changes  in interest rates  in respect of interest earned on i ts  cash and cash
equivalents . The Group seeks  to mi-gate this  risk by monitoring the placement of cash balances  on an on-going bas is  in
order to maximise the interest rates  obtained.
 
 

As at 31 December 2022 Interest bearing  

Less than
1 month

1 month
to

3 months

3 months
to

1 year

 
1 - 2 years

Non-
interest
bearing Total

£ £ £ £ £ £
Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

4,974,113 - - - - 4,974,113

Financial assets held at
fair value through profit
or loss

- - - - 524,662,582 524,662,582

Prepaid expenses - - - - 29,831 29,831
Total Assets 4,974,113 - - - 524,692,413 529,666,526
Liabilities
Other payables - - - - (227,346) (227,346)
Total Liabilities - - - - (227,346) (227,346)

 
 

As at 31 December
2021

Interest bearing  

1 month 3 months  Non-



Less than
1 month

1 month
to

3 months

3 months
to

1 year

 
1 - 2 years

Non-
interest
bearing Total

£ £ £ £ £ £
Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

5,026,666 - - - - 5,026,666

Financial assets held at
fair value through profit
or loss

- - - - 575,577,900 575,577,900

Prepaid expenses - - - - 17,589 17,589
Total Assets 5,026,666    575,595,489 580,622,155
Liabilities
Other payables - - - - (128,650) (128,650)
Total Liabilities - - - - (128,650) (128,650)

 
As at 31 December 2022, the total  interest sens i-vity gap for interest bearing i tems was a  surplus  of £4,974,113 (31
December 2021: £5,026,666).
 
As  at 31 December 2022, interest rates  reported by the Bank of England were 3.5% (31 December 2021: 0.25%) which would
equate to net income of £174,094 (31 December 2021: £12,567) per annum i f interest bearing assets  and l iabi l i-es
remained constant. I f interest rates  were to fluctuate by 200 bas is  points  (31 December 2021: 50 bas is  points), this  would
have a pos i-ve or nega-ve effect of £99,482 (31 December 2021: pos i-ve effect of £25,133 or nega-ve effect of £12,567) on
the Group's  annual  income.
 
Capital risk management
 
The capital  s tructure of the Company cons ists  of proceeds raised from the issue of O rdinary Shares. As  at 31 December
2022, the Group is  not subject to any external  capital  requirement.
 
The Directors  bel ieve that at the date of the Consol idated Statement of F inancial  Pos i-on there were no other materia l  ri sks
associated with the management of the Group's  capital .
 
11. Distributions
 
Distribu-ons of £700 were paid by the Group to non-control l ing interests  on 22 December 2022 (year ended 31 December
2021: £109,720). During the year ended 31 December 2022 the Company paid a  dividend of 0.5 pence per share, or £3.5
mi l l ion in total , on 16 September 2022 to shareholders  on the register at 26 August 2022. No dividends were paid during
the year ended 31 December 2021.
 
12. Subsequent events
 
On 17 March 2023 Navient paid a  dividend of $0.16 per share to shareholders  of record on 3 March 2023.
 
The Company has  declared a dividend of 0.5 pence per share, payable on 26 May 2023 to shareholders  on the register at 5
May 2023.
 
Subsequent to the year-end, the share price of Navient decreased to 15.99 US dol lars  per share and the share price of the
Company increased to 52.50 pence per share at 31 March 2023 and, as  disclosed on 3 Apri l  2023, the 31 March 2023
estimated NAV (unaudited) of the Group decreased to 73.50 pence per share.
 
There were no other materia l  subsequent events  that require disclosure in the condensed consol idated financial
statements .   
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	We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £264,000 (2021: £290,000), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.

